THE DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF A NOVEL 3D ANGIOGENESIS TISSUE MODEL FOR TESTING AN ANTI-ANGIOGENESIS DRUG

By

SUBUOLA SOFOLAHAN

Bachelor of Science in Chemical Engineering

University of Lagos

Akoka, Lagos (Nigeria)

2005

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE May, 2010

THE DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF A NOVEL 3D ANGIOGENESIS TISSUE MODEL FOR TESTING AN ANTI-ANGIOGENESIS DRUG

Thesis Approved:

Dr. Heather Gappa-Fahlenkamp

Thesis Adviser

Dr. Josh Ramsey

Dr. Gary L. Foutch

Dr. A. Gordon Emslie

Dean of the Graduate College

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank the author and finisher of my faith, God almighty for guiding me especially through the difficult times. I love you Lord. I would like to acknowledge the financial and mental support of my parents Dr. and Dr (Mrs.) Sofolahan. Thank you mum and dad for all your love. I am very grateful to Dr. Fahlenkamp for being a wonderful and dedicated advisor throughout the course of this work. Many thanks as well to my research group; Anirudh Shukla, Munish Sharma, Krisada Leemasawatdigul, Neda Ghousifam & Preeti Ashok.

I owe my deepest gratitude to my sister, brother and friends who have supported me through their friendships and prayers; Kikelomo Sofolahan, Olabosipo Sofolahan, Ekene Akanisi, Oluwatosin Olumodimu, Olukanyinsola Keleko, Olamide Shadiya, Ekenemolise Adigwe, Oluwatosin Ogundare, Babatunde Oloro, Oluwatosin Oyelakin, Ayodeji Bamijoko, Adetola Alase, Ayoade Ogundeji, Daniel Fakunle, Deji Oni, Ibukun Fagbemi, Adelere Adesina, Siewe Siewe, Members of Hosanna Assembly of God Church, Lakeview Church and Chapel of Restoration RCCG, Tulsa.

Lastly, thank you to my grandparents, aunts, uncles, and cousins for their prayers and love. I love you all very much, God bless you

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter Pa	ıge
I. INTRODUCTION	.8
II. LITERATURE REVIEW1	3
2.1 Diabetic Retinopathy1	3
2.2 Angiogenesis Process1	6
2.3 Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor1	8
2.3.1 VEGF Isoforms and Receptors1	9
2.3.2 VEGF Inhibitors	21
2.4 Various Model Systems	22
2.4.1 In Vivo Versus In Vitro Models	23
2.4.2 Two Dimensional Versus Three Dimensional Models2	24
2.4.3 In Vitro Models of Angiogenesis	25
2.4.4 In Vivo Models of Angiogenesis	50
2.4.5 In Vitro Versus In Vivo Models of Angiogenesis	54
2.5 Design of a Novel Three-Dimensional Vascular Tissue Model	5
Project Objectives	57
III. METHODOLOGY	8
3.1 Materials	8
3.2 Cell Culture	9
3.3 Development of a Three Dimensional Vascular Tissue Model to Test the	
Effect of an Anti-Angiogenesis Drug	9
3.3.1 Cell-Titer Blue Viability Assay	1
3.3.2 Microscopic Evaluation of Migration and Number of Sprouts	3
3.3.3 Effect of CLT-003 on Endothelial Cell Viability, Proliferation, Number	
of Sprouts and Migration in Growth Factor Model	4
3.3.4 Effect of CLT-003 on Endothelial Cell Viability, Proliferation, Number	•
of Sprouts and Migration in Normal Model4	5
3.4 Characterization of a Novel 3D Angiogenesis Tissue Model	6
3.4.1 Effect of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and Collagen Thickness of	on
Endothelial Cell Viability, Proliferation, Number of Sprouts and Migrati	on
	-8

3.5 Statistical Analysis	
IV. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	51
4.1 Development of a Three Dimensional Vascular Tissue Model to	Test the
Effect of an Anti-Angiogenesis drug	51
4.1.1 Effect of CLT-003 on Endothelial Cell Viability, Proliferation	on, Number
of Sprouts and Migration in the Growth Factor Model	51
4.1.2 Effect of CLT-003 on Endothelial Cell Viability, Proliferati	on, Number
of Sprouts and Migration in the Normal Model	58
4.2 Characterization of a Novel 3D Angiogenesis Tissue Model	63
4.2.1 Effect of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor on Endotheli	al Cell
Viability and Proliferation	64
4.2.2 Effect of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor on Endotheli	al Cell
Number of Sprouts	69
4.2.3 Effect of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor on Endotheli	al Cell
Depth of Migration	71
4.2.4 Effect of Collagen Thickness on Endothelial Cell Viability	and
Proliferation	73
4.2.5 Effect of Collagen Thickness on Endothelial Cell Number	of Sprouts and
Depth of Migration	

V. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE RECOMMENDATIONS	9
REFERENCES	6

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure

Page

2.1 A diagram showing the progression of diabetic retinopathy	14
2.2 A scene viewed by a person with normal vision and diabetic retinopathy	15
2.3 Progression of angiogenesis	18
2.4 The different types of model systems	22
2.5 Chick embryo chorioallantoic membrane	31
2.6 Location of the cornea and limbus on the eye	33
2.7 Chemotaxis direction of a cell	35
2.8 Transwell permeable support	37
2.9 Inside the human eye	37
3.1 3D vascular tissue model development in a 96 well solid plate	40
3.2 Cell titer-blue viability assay	41
3.3 Fluorescence measured for a known number of cells after the Cell lifer Blue	40
assay	42
3.4 Sprouts in the 3D vascular fissue model at 100x, 250x and 400x magnification	143
3.6 Development of a povel 3D angiogenesis tissue model in a Transwell®	44
permeable support	47
3.7 Front and bottom view of the membrane insert	50
4.1 Effect of CLT-003 on cell viability and proliferation in the Growth Factor Mo	ndel
4.2 Effect of CLT-003 on the number of sprouts in the Growth Factor Model	
4.3 Effect of CLT-003 on cell migration in the Growth Factor Model	57
4.4 Effect of CLT-003 on viability and proliferation in the Normal Model	60
4.5 Effect of CLT-003 on the number of sprouts in the Normal Model	61
4.6 Effect of VEGF concentration on viability and proliferation in the tissue mode	el
with 0.73 mm collagen thickness	65
4.7 Effect of VEGF concentration on viability and proliferation in the tissue mode	el
with 2.01 mm collagen thickness	67
4.8 Effect of VEGF concentration on viability and proliferation in the tissue mode	el
with 4.28 mm collagen thickness	68
4.9 Effect of VEGF concentration on the number of sprouts in the tissue model	
with 0.73 mm collagen thickness	70
4.10 Effect of VEGF concentration on depth of migration in the 0.73 mm collagen	
thickness	72
4.11 Effect of collagen thickness on viability and proliferation for samples exposed	1 to
5 ng/ml VEGF concentration	74

4.12 Effect of collagen thickness on viability and proliferation for samples ex	posed to
50 ng/ml VEGF concentration	75
4.13 Effect of collagen thickness on viability and proliferation for samples ex	posed to
100 ng/ml VEGF concentration	
e	

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Diabetic Retinopathy (DR) is a microvascular complication associated with diabetes mellitus. DR is an eye disease that occurs as a result of chronic hyperglycemia, which causes vascular damage, increased vascular permeability, vascular leakage, and edema [1]. Diabetes mellitus or just diabetes is a chronic condition caused by relative or absolute deficiency of insulin in the body. DR was responsible for blindness in 5% of the world population in 2002 with approximately five million people becoming blind [2]. During this time period it was also the third leading cause of blindness in working age adults in the United States. In the American Indian population in Oklahoma, diabetes has attained an epidemic status. As a result, DR had a higher prevalence of visual impairment in Oklahoma Native Americans than other ethnic groups [3].

When the blood glucose level is elevated in the body, it can lead to a production of growth factors. Among the many growth factors present, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) has been recognized as the primary mediator of vascular alteration in DR [4, 5]. Several clinical studies have shown how increase in VEGF concentrations within the eye are linked to DR [6-11] VEGF expression is induced by hypoxia, hyperglycemia, oxidative stress, high glucose, tissue ischemia, all occurring in diabetes. Therefore in order to reduce the morbidity and mortality associated with DR, it is important to develop therapeutic strategies for controlling the disease. A potential new therapy for DR is the development of anti-angiogenesis drugs that would inhibit the angiogenic function of VEGF, thereby reducing VEGF levels within the eye.

Angiogenesis is a physiological process involving the growth of new capillary blood vessels from pre-existing blood vessels. This involves basement membrane degradation, cell migration and alignment, lumen formation, loop formation, blood flow initiation, and a new basement membrane formation [12]. It is a fundamental step that occurs during wound healing, organ formation and embryonic development, and pathologically in disorders such as rheumatoid arthritis [13], diabetic retinopathy and cancer (tumor growth and metastasis) [14, 15]. In vitro tissue models are used for studying angiogenesis because they create an environment suitable for cell growth that closely recapitulates what transpires in vivo. An in vitro angiogenesis model could be two dimensional (2D) or three dimensional (3D). For the studies carried out in this research, a 3D in vitro tissue model was utilized because it provided the third dimension that captures the physiological complexity unavailable in 2D models. To mimic the in vivo environment, in vitro models were used to control biological conditions, as well as analyze isolated processes that contribute to angiogenesis [15, 16]. These models have also effectively quantified blood vessel formation in 3D. A 3D in vitro angiogenesis model involves using cells of endothelial type grown or embedded within an extracellular matrix component (ECM) and adding angiogenic agent(s) that would induce cell sprouting, proliferation, migration and differentiation. An example of a 3D angiogenesis model can be described by Nehls and Drenckhahn [17]. In this model, endothelial cells were seeded on gelatin-coated microcarriers and implanted within a fibrin gel or matrigel [18]. The cells were observed to form multicellular capillary-like structures in response to basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and VEGF added to the system. Another model involves embedding aorta rings in fibrin or collagen gels in the absence of serum and protein supplements [19].

Selecting a suitable ECM and angiogenic agent is crucial for the development of a 3D tissue model because ECM provides vascular support essential for maintaining the organization of vascular endothelial cells into blood vessels [20] and angiogenic agents are responsible for stimulating blood vessel growth in the body [16]. Literature has shown VEGF as the key regulator in both physiological and pathological angiogenesis. This cytokine was selected because of its potent factor to stimulate endothelial cell proliferation, differentiation and migration in blood vessel formation [21]. Collagen was also selected because it provides a matrix environment suitable for blood vessel formation [22, 23] and constitutes the major protein in the ECM [24]. *In vitro* angiogenesis models utilize endothelial cells grown on a 3D extracellular matrix environment. These cells are the most suitable because they line the interior surface of the blood vessel and their cellular functions are involved in many angiogenic events [15]. Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) were the type used because they are readily obtainable and simple to isolate and culture [25].

This research was divided into two studies. The first study was to develop a 3D angiogenesis tissue model to study the effect of a novel anti-angiogenesis drug (CLT-003, a thalidomide analogue). Thalidomide is a potent inhibitor of new blood vessels (angiogenesis) [26]. Thalidomide analogues were created to decrease the harmful side effects associated with thalidomide. For the first tissue model, HUVECs were grown on

type 1 collagen matrix in a 96 well solid plate format using a growth factor cocktail as the stimulant. The effect of the drug was studied on HUVEC viability, proliferation, number of sprouts and migration. Limitations of the first tissue model to fully measure the effect of CLT-003 on angiogenesis led to the development and characterization of a novel 3D angiogenesis vascular tissue model. The second study employed a Transwell[®] membrane well to create a model that better represents physiological conditions. The Transwell® membrane plate format was used because of its ability to grant independent and easy access to both sides of the monolayer, in the upper and lower compartment of the membrane, and the simplification in taking measurements. The Transwell® assay is often used in *in-vitro* angiogenesis models to study endothelial cell migration in response to growth factors, [16] but literature has shown that there have been challenges during the set up and the quantification stage [15]. Some of these challenges involving the quantification of the stages of angiogenesis have been overcome in the new model used in this research. The 3D tissue model was characterized by varying collagen thickness and VEGF concentration added to the system. These two variables were investigated on HUVEC viability, proliferation, migration and number of sprouts. The new model gave an improved in vitro assessment of the angiogenic process because it mimicked in vivo events such as viability, proliferation, migration and sprouting. The most suitable collagen thickness and VEGF concentration that gave the best results in stimulating HUVEC viability, proliferation, migration and number of sprouts would be used to study the effect of the anti-angiogenesis drug within the model.

The next chapter presents a literature review of the diabetic retinopathy disease, its association with angiogenesis, VEGF and the different types of tissue models used for studying angiogenesis. The information provided gives a better understanding of the development of the 3D tissue model that was used in this research.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Diabetic Retinopathy

Diabetic retinopathy (DR) is characterized by reduced retinal capillary blood flow, retinal and vitreous hemorrhage, reduced visual acuity and eventually blindness. It is a disease caused by damage to the small blood vessels in the retina, the light sensitive layer of tissue lining the back of the eye. The retina converts light energy falling on it into electrical impulses that can be analyzed by the brain.

The earliest stage of DR shows mild non-proliferative abnormalities characterized by increased vascular permeability. It is also known as background DR and consists of microaneurysms only. Then it progresses to moderate and severe non-proliferative diabetic retinopathy (NPDR) characterized by blurred vision, floaters, loss of central or peripheral vision, and flashes of lights. Floaters are black peppery spots in the vision. The last stage is known as proliferative diabetic retinopathy (PDR). This stage is characterized by neovascularization (as seen in figure 2.1 below), blurred vision, floaters, loss of central or peripheral vision, and flashes of light. The onset is typically more sudden and blurring of vision is more severe than NPDR [27]. Neovascularization is the growth of new blood vessels. PDR is more common in patients with type 1 diabetes than type 2 diabetes. The newly formed blood vessels are very fragile, and as a result, flameshaped intraretinal hemorrhages are commonly found during opthalmoscopic examination. One of the mechanism by which diabetic retinopathy causes blindness is by retinal and vitreous hemorrhage through pooling of blood in the back of the eye that obscures vision [28]. This may occur suddenly and resolve spontaneously, but if not treated timely, it may lead to permanent loss of eyesight.



Figure 2.1 A diagram showing the progression of diabetic retinopathy [29]

An example of normal vision and vision with progressive diabetic retinopathy is shown in figure 2.2 below. As the disease progresses a condition known as Diabetic Macular Edema (DME) occurs. DME can be defined as the collection of intraretinal fluid in the macular area of the retina, which manifest as slow degradation in and blurring of vision and distorted images [30].





Figure 2.2 A scene viewed by a person with normal vision and diabetic retinopathy[31]

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), DR is one of the leading causes of blindness in the world. In 2002, DR was shown as the fifth leading cause of blindness worldwide and accounts for 4.8% of the world population. In the United States, it is the third leading cause and accounts for 17%, with age-related macular degeneration (AMD) and glaucoma in first and second place, respectively [2]. The development and progression of retinopathy in an individual is dependent upon the duration of diabetes. Almost all patients with type 1 diabetes and over 60% of patients with type 2 diabetes will develop some degree of retinopathy after the first 20 years of having the disease [32]. Forty-percent of adults with diabetes age 40 years and above have retinopathy and this condition is vision-threatening in 20 % of these patients [33]. Vision-threatening DR can be classified in patients having one or more of these: severe NPDR, PDR, and DME. People with diabetes that are 50 years and above have two times the risk of vision impairment as people in the same age group without diabetes [34].

The present treatments available for DR: laser photocoagulation and vitrectomy do not restore lost vision. They are only effective at slowing the progression of retinopathy and reducing the risk of severe vision loss. It is therefore important to identify and treat patients early in the disease [27]. However, the techniques involved in these treatments are invasive and are very likely to have side effects. Though new techniques are currently developed, a non-invasive and effective drug treatment that would prevent progression of diabetic retinopathy has not yet been discovered.

Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) plays a fundamental role in the etiology of DR. It serves as the primary mediator of intraocular neovascularization, [4] that is the abnormal or excessive formation of blood vessels in the eye. These blood vessel formations are induced by hypoxia brought about by the blockage of retinal capillaries at the early stages of DR. Hypoxia occurs when there is an inadequate supply of oxygen to tissue and this increases the tissue production of angiogenic factors, including VEGF, which promotes vascular permeability [35]. It is therefore necessary to understand blood vessel formation (angiogenesis) in the body, and the role VEGF plays in the angiogenesis process.

2.2 Angiogenesis Process

Angiogenesis is the formation of new blood vessels, but it differs from neovascularization in that angiogenesis is mainly characterized by the protrusion and outgrowth of capillary buds and sprouts from pre-existing blood vessels. In the human body, a balance exists between angiogenic factors, which stimulate angiogenesis and anti-angiogenic factors (inhibitors) which inhibit angiogenesis. The balance becomes upset when either the concentration of angiogenic or anti-angiogenic factors outweighs one more than the other. The result is pathological angiogenesis, where there is an abnormal proliferation of blood vessel formation. This can occur in many diseases in addition to DR such as cancer, rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis and atherosclerosis.

The angiogenesis process involves two consecutive stages namely neovessel growth and neovessel stabilization. A sequence of events occurs during the first stage. These events include dissolution of the basement membrane of the "parent" vessel and its surrounding matrix, migration of endothelial cells within the created space toward the angiogenic stimuli, proliferation of endothelial cells, lumen formation within the endothelial sprout, and formation of loops by anastommoses of sprouts. The second stage entails the cessation of endothelial cell proliferation, reconstruction of a basement membrane around the neovessel, and recruitment and coverage of the immature vessels with pericytes. Both stages are equally significant, because without vessel stabilization, the immature capillary will undergo apoptosis at a very fast rate and deteriorate [36]. Figure 2.3 gives a pictorial explanation on the progression of angiogenesis process, from angiogenic factor production to vascular stabilization.



Figure 2.3 Progression of Angiogenesis [37]

2.3 Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor

VEGF, also known as vascular permeability factor (VPF), is an angiogenic, endothelial cell mitogen that stimulates angiogenesis and vasculogenesis i.e. blood vessel formation form a de novo production of endothelial cells [38]. This growth factor is a heparin-binding, homodimeric glycoprotein with a molecular mass of 45-kDa [39] and comes from the sub-family of platelet derived growth factor. The VEGF family consists of seven members: VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, VEGF-E, VEGF-F and placental growth factor (PIGF). VEGF-A (typically referred to as VEGF) is the most important member because of the key role it plays in regulating angiogenesis and vasculogenesis. VEGF-C and VEGF-D are mediators of lymphangiogenesis, while VEGF-E and PIGF also induce angiogenesis [40]. VEGF is produced by many cell types namely retinal pigment epithelial cells, pancreatic duct cells, Schwann cells, retinal capillary pericytes, endothelial cells, glial cells, Müller cells, and ganglion cells [41-45]. The expression of VEGF in these cell types is induced by hypoxia through different mechanisms [44].

2.3.1 VEGF Isoforms and Receptors

VEGF isoforms are a result of alternative exon splicing of a single gene [46]. Exon 1-5 spans the receptor binding domain, while exons 6 and 7 span the heparinbinding domain. There are four major isoforms of VEGF having 121, 165, 189, and 206 amino acids: VEGF₁₂₁, VEGF₁₆₅, VEGF₁₈₉, and VEGF₂₀₆, respectively [46-48]. Other isoforms are in existence and represent less frequent splice variants; VEGF₁₄₅, [49] VEGF₁₈₃, [50] VEGF₁₆₂ [51] and VEGF_{165b} [52]. These isoforms are characterized based on their heparin-binding affinity to the extracellular matrix. Their ability to bind heparin has an inverse relationship with diffusivity. VEGF₁₂₁ is acidic with no heparin-binding affinity, but is a highly soluble protein. VEGF₁₆₅ is basic and binds to heparin, while VEGF₁₈₉ and VEGF₂₀₆ are more basic than VEGF₁₆₅ and bind very tightly to heparin [53]. VEGF₁₆₅ is a secreted protein, though it has a significant portion bound to the cell surface and extracellular matrix. In contrast VEGF₁₈₉ and VEGF₂₀₆ remain sequestered in the extracellular matrix [54]. However these isoforms may be released in a soluble form by heparin. VEGF interaction with heparin was studied in order to address the biological significance of its longer isoforms, it was demonstrated that a loss of heparin binding, whether due to alternative splicing or proteolysis, will result in a reduction of the vascular endothelial cell mitogenic activity of VEGF [55].

In order for the angiogenesis process to begin, VEGF will need to bind to its receptors called VEGF receptors (VEGFRs). The binding of VEGF to its receptor induces endothelial cell proliferation, migration, survival and permeability of endothelial cells. These receptors are located on the surface of endothelial cells [56] and also on bone marrow derived cells [57]. When a member of the VEGF family binds to its receptor, dimerization occurs, and they become activated through a process called autophosphorylation. Autophosphorylation is the phosphorylation of a kinase protein catalyzed by its own enzymatic activity. VEGFRs are structured into seven immunoglobulin-like folds in the extracellular domain, a single transmembrane region, and a split tyrosine kinase domain, which is interrupted by a 70-amino-acid kinase insert domain [35]. VEGF binds to two receptors namely VEGFR-1/Flt-1 (fms-like tyrosine kinase) and VEGFR-2/KDR/Flk-1 (kinase insert domain-containing receptor/fetal liver kinase). These receptors along with VEGFR-3/Flt-4 are part of the receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) family. The expression VEGFRs differs in specific endothelial cell layers. VEGFR-2 is can be found on almost all endothelial cells, while VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-3 can be found on endothelial cells in distinct vascular layers [58]. VEGF-B binds to VEGFR-1, VEGF-C and VEGF-D binds to VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3, VEGF-E binds to VEGFR-2, and PIGF binds to VEGFR-1.

2.3.2 VEGF Inhibitors

VEGF inhibitors are anti-angiogenic agents that hinder VEGF binding to its receptors that promote angiogenesis. Many VEGF inhibitors have been approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to aid in the treatment of diseases associated with angiogenesis. Some of these inhibitors include Bevacizumab (Avastin), which has been shown to increase the survival rate of patients with cancer, [59] Ranibizumab and Macugen (Pegaptanib), which were also approved by FDA for the treatment of age-related macular degeneration [60, 61].

Thalidomide has also been identified as a strong inhibitor of VEGF and thus angiogenesis. It is a powerful teratogen, immunomodulatory and anti-angiogenic drug that inhibits blood vessel formation in adults and animals [62-64]. Komorowski et al [65] studied the effect of different concentration of thalidomide on VEGF secretion, endothelial cell migration, adhesion and capillary tube formation in vitro. It was observed that 1 μ M to 10 μ M thalidomide concentrations inhibited VEGF secretion, and thalidomide concentrations of 0.01 μ M and 10 μ M reduced the number of capillary tubes formed, but did not affect cell proliferation. The inhibitory factor of thalidomide has also been studied in vivo by D'Amato et al [26] using the rabbit cornea micropocket model, where angiogenesis was induced by basic fibroblast growth factor. Due to the side effects associated with using thalidomide, derivatives of the drug called thalidomide analogues were designed to decrease harmful side effects, while enhancing the anti-angiogenic activity of thalidomide. This derivative has been shown from literature to be more powerful than thalidomide. For example, Moreira et al reported that thalidomide

analogue (cc-1069) inhibited endothelial cell proliferation more effectively than thalidomide [66].

2.4 Various Model Systems

A model is a representation of a system that allows for investigation of the properties of the system as well as the prediction of future outcomes. Researchers use experimental models to better understand how biological systems function and the complications associated with them. These models provide an environment for studying human diseases and treatments. The biological model systems can be divided into *in vivo* and *in vitro* models. *In vivo* models include the human and animal models, while *in vitro* models include two dimensional and three dimensional cell and tissue culture models. Examples of these models are shown in figure 2.7 below.





Animal Models



stem 3D Cell culture system

Figure 2.4 The Different Types of Model Systems [67-69]

2.4.1 In Vivo Versus in Vitro Model Systems

Human models are the ideal models to use in research studies because they are the exact environment where pathological conditions occur. However, the ethical issues involve constitute the major disadvantage associated with using these models. In an unfortunate history of medical research, experiments were performed illegally on human subjects without their knowledge, consent, or informed consent [70] and this led to many untimely deaths. As a result, researchers cannot use human models to study anything that is harmful to human health. In addition, human models are difficult to control due to the complex nature of the human biological system. There is also the issue of variability, which makes it difficult to analyze the effect of one variable at a time.

Animal models have been used as substitutes for human models because of their similarities to human cells, tissue and organ functions. They can be used to develop and test drugs that may be too hazardous to do so in humans. Another advantage of using animal models over human models is the ease of manipulating and controlling variables in order to study their effect on the system. This gives scientists a better understanding of the physiological behavior of the system. The disadvantage of using animal models is that some of the factors, such as receptors and signaling factors present in animals, may behave differently than those present in humans. As a result, an animal model may give a poor prediction of disease and/or treatment mechanisms in humans.

Two dimensional cell culture models provide more control of experimental variables than animal and human models, are less expensive, and easier to use with room for improved reproducibility. They consist of cells grown in cell culture medium in a monolayer in a variety of formats, for example T-25 cm² and T-75 cm² tissue culture

flasks, Petri- dishes or well plates. A major limitation of the 2D models is that they do not provide the third dimension that correctly mimics in vivo surroundings. In 2D environment, there are no mechanical and biochemical signals, cell to cell communication and tissue-specific architecture [71]. Nonetheless, because of their simplicity, they are still the most popular models used for in vitro studies.

Three dimensional models are more accessible than animal based models and overcome the limitations of 2D cell culture systems. These models capture more of the relevant complexity associated with the 3D microenvironment, similar to that found in vivo where cells proliferate, migrate and differentiate within an extracellular matrix. Three dimensional models have also been shown to replicate in vivo-like responses [72, 73] thus giving a better description of *in vivo* environment than their 2D counterpart.

2.4.2 Two Dimensional Versus Three Dimensional Cell Culture Models

Three dimensional models are becoming popular and very important because they reduce the need for animal experimentation and provide a potential bridge for the gap between 2D cell culture models and human studies. In 2D model systems, cells grown on planar surfaces do not model the 3D living tissues and organs within the human body. Cell functions such as proliferation and differentiation, which involves cell to cell interactions and cell to matrix interactions are lost under 2D conditions [71]. For this reason, the results obtained from using 2D models are not completely reliable when they do not correctly mimic the *in vivo* environment. For example transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) inhibited endothelial proliferation in 2D systems, but appeared to be ineffective in a 3D culture system [74]. A 3D culture system can provide a higher surface

area, three orders of magnitude higher than 2D cultures. This higher surface area allows cells to attach and arrange themselves. In addition, cells are not limited by contact inhibition in 3D as in 2D; they can attain a higher density closer to that found in tissues, provided that nutrients can be efficiently transported [75]. Research has also shown that cells exhibit different behavior when grown in 3D cell culture. For example, it has been shown that a higher cell density in 3D culture can generate more monoclonal antibody at high titer [76]. Another example shows fibroblast cells with a difference in morphology and migration when suspended in collagen gels; in 2D cell culture, the substrate induced an artificial polarity between the lower and upper surfaces of these naturally nonpolar cells [77, 78]. A 3D ECM has been recognized for epithelial cells because it provides a 3D environment that promotes epithelial polarity and differentiation [79].

2.4.3 In Vitro Models of Angiogenesis

The aim of every *in vitro* model is to recapitulate *in vivo* conditions. *In vitro* models are useful tools in i) studying the various steps occurring in angiogenesis, such as cell migration, cell proliferation, and tube formation, ii) modeling pathological conditions, as well as understanding the molecular mechanisms of angiogenesis, iii) testing the effectiveness of angiogenic and anti-angiogenic agents, and iv) the identification and screening of potential drugs [15, 80, 81].

There are two types of in vitro angiogenesis models namely 2D and 3D models. These models are classified according to the way the cells reorganize. In the 2D models, cells develop tubular structures on the surface of the substrate, but in 3D models, they invade the surrounding matrix consisting of a biogel to form 3D structures. The 3D angiogenesis models simulate *in vivo* environment better than the 2D models because they describe more of the steps involved in the angiogenesis process. Furthermore, the effect of a gradient of diffusion of nutrients, oxygen, and stimulating factors on the events occurring during angiogenesis can be studied in 3D models. Two dimensional models lack this third dimension required for carrying out these studies.

In vitro angiogenesis was initially demonstrated by Folkman in 1980 where bovine capillary endothelial cells cultured in gelatin formed capillary like tubular structures [82]. This has set the pathway for the development of other in vitro angiogenesis models, which have been designed to simulate *in vivo* angiogenesis, but due to the complex nature of the *in vivo* process, *in vitro* models have not been successful in fully representing the stages of angiogenesis as a whole [83]. As described by Rakesh Jain and colleagues, an ideal *in vitro* angiogenesis model should have the following characteristics. 1) the release rate, the spatial and temporal concentration distribution of angiogenic factors or inhibitors should be known 2) it should quantitatively measure the structure of the new vasculature 3) it should also quantitatively measure the function of the new vasculature (i.e. endothelial cell migration rate, proliferation rate, canalization rate, blood flow rate, and vascular permeability 4) the in vitro responses should be confirmed in vivo. 5) newly formed and pre-existing host vessels should be clearly differentiated and 6) it should be cost effective, reproducible, quick, convenient and reliable [84]. Several *in vitro* models have been developed that closely resemble angiogenesis within an in vivo environment. They include endothelial cells grown either on the surface or embedded within an extracellular matrix to form 3D tube-like structures in response to angiogenic factors [22, 85-88].

In the human body, cells secrete molecules that interact to form a complex network, which constitute the extracellular matrix (ECM). A suitable ECM must be selected to provide the right structural environment for cells to assemble into tissues. The ECM is responsible for the developmental process of the tissue through interaction with the receptors on the cells. It also provides a scaffold for cell support, a surface for cells to adhere and migrate into the ECM, and serves as a reservoir where growth factors and chemicals required for cell metabolic function can be stored [89-92]. Collagen is the most abundant protein present in the ECM, making up 25 % of total protein body content [93]. It is mainly found in the skin and bone. A number of angiogenesis models use collagen as the ECM because it represents the major environment where angiogenic events occur [94, 95].

Endothelial cells line all the blood vessels in the human body, the entire circulatory system and are the main constituents of capillaries. For this reason, many *in vitro* angiogenesis models utilize endothelial cells grown in cell culture. Another reason is because their cell functions are associated with many angiogenic events, including matrix degradation, proliferation, migration and morphogenesis [16]. *In vitro* angiogenesis models that make use of endothelial cells are advantageous over *in vivo* models in the following ways: 1) they are easier and faster to set up and execute, 2) there is better control and manipulation of biological functions, 3) angiogenic and anti-angiogenic factors are more easily evaluated and 4) overall cost is lower [15]. Furthermore, endothelial cell functions can be directly assessed, without the involvement of other cells or any metabolic processing [81]. The most widely used endothelial cells are human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) because of their availability and

simplicity in culture. Consequently, they have been used in many assays and have been shown to have similar behavior with endothelial cells isolated from vascular beds [25].

Vernon and Sage [96] described a quantitative model termed, "the radial invasion of matrix by aggregated cells" (RIMAC), which was used to study endothelial cell migration and sprout formation within 3D collagen matrices. In this model bovine aortic endothelial cells were embedded within collagen gels supported by rings of nylon mesh. The collagen plus support were called assay disks. The disk was immersed in nutrient media, which resulted in radial movement of endothelial cells into the collagen within two to five days. The RIMAC model was characterized by testing the response of the endothelial cells to collagen density and the angiogenic protein bFGF, VEGF and transforming growth factor (TGF- β 1). Their results show that lower concentrations of collagen gels (0.3-0.6 mg/ml) support migration and sprout formation of endothelial cells than higher concentrations (2 mg/ml). Their results also show that both bFGF and VEGF increase endothelial cell invasion in collagen in a concentration-dependent manner, while TGF- β 1 inhibits invasion for a wide range of concentrations (0.1-30 ng.ml).

Other 3D in vitro models using collagen as ECM was described by Davis et al [23, 88] to assess capillary morphogenesis formed by endothelial cell invasion into 3D collagen matrices. In the first model, endothelial cells were seeded on the surface of collagen gel in a 6 mm culture well insert with a porous membrane. The cells were fixed and stained after 72 hrs of culture and it was observed that endothelial cells invaded into the collagen below the surface of the monolayer and formed capillary sprouts and lumenal structures. The second model was a modification of the first model where the collagen gel described above was placed on top of a different collagen gel with and

without endothelial cells. The top gel was then seeded with endothelial cells to investigate whether invasion was induced by the endothelial cell already undergoing morphogenesis in the lower gel. It was observed that after 72 hrs of culture, endothelial cells on the top gel invaded and underwent morhpogenic changes while migrating into the collagen matrix. It was concluded that endothelial cells during morphogenesis may release autocrine factors that control EC invasion. The third model was developed on a microscope slide so that the morphogenic process could be visualized by means of phasecontrast microscopy. Invasion of EC into the collagen gel was observed in the same manner as the two earlier models described, in addition to tube formation and intracellular vacuoles.

There are also 3D in vitro models that use fibrin as the ECM. An example of one is that developed by Nehls and Drenckhan [17] where endothelial cells from bovine pulmonary arteries were seeded on gelatin-coated cytodex-3 microcarriers embedded in fibrinogen and induced to polymerize by adding thrombin. Endothelial cells were observed to migrate into the fibrin gel forming 3D capillary-like structures. This model was used to test the effect of angiogenic factors VEGF and bFGF on capillary sprouting and it was observed that VEGF and bFGF at 100 ng/ml and 30 ng/ml, respectively, stimulated endothelial cells proliferation followed by increase in capillary-like formations. This model was later modified using matrigel in place of fibrinogen as the ECM because of its variability and sensitivity to small changes occurring during the polymerization of fibrinogen, and also because of the variation that could be associated with the thrombin batch [18]. Matrigel is a scaffold made up of ECM and basement membrane proteins derived from the mouse Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm sarcoma and

enhanced with collagen IV, laminin and nidogen. The matrigel used in this model was a reduced growth factor matrigel, which differs from standard matrigel in that it contains reduced levels of cytokines and angiogenic factors and has overcome the problems associated with increased stimulation in standard matrigel. Endothelial cells were discovered to attach and rapidly form tubules within a short time period (4-12 hrs) when seeded on matrigel [97]. However, there was a lack of lumen formation, and non-endothelial cell, including human fibroblasts and glioblastoma cells, had the same tubules structure when grown on matrigel [98].

2.4.4 In Vivo Models of Angiogenesis

In vivo angiogenesis models have been developed to confirm results obtained in vitro because they represent the exact environment where angiogenesis occur. There are several *in vivo* angiogenesis models, but the most current and frequently used ones in today's practice are the chick chorioallantoic membrane (CAM) model, the corneal angiogenesis model, and the subcutaneous implants [99].

The CAM model can be described as the most widely used *in vivo* model for studying angiogenesis [99, 100]. There are two ways to access the CAM of a chick. The first way is by placing the test substance, or the tissue or organ graft, directly on the CAM of a developed 7-9 day chick embryo through a window created by cutting an opening on the eggshell. The second way is by transferring the egg content into a Petri dish prior to applying the test substance [101]. In this case, there is no eggshell involved and is considered as an *in vitro* method, while the former is considered an *in ovo* method. *In ovo* means, "occurring in the egg or embryo". The test substance is prepared either in

slow-release polymer pellets, absorbed by gelatin sponges, or is air-dried on plastic discs [102]. A pictorial diagram of a chorioallantoic membrane is shown in figure 2.4 below.



Figure 2.5 Chick embryo chorioallantoic membrane [103]

The CAM model has been used to study tumor angiogenesis and to test angiogenic and anti-angiogenic factors [104]. Tumor angiogenesis was studied by grafting tumor samples to the surface of the CAM. Grafting was carried out on day 8 of incubation at 37°C at constant humidity. This evoked a tumor-induced vasoproliferative response after 48 to 72 hours made up of newly formed vessels that assembled towards the graft. Evaluation of new blood vessels was done by means of a stereomicroscope *in vivo* [105-107]. For testing pro- and anti-angiogenic factors, inert synthetic polymers are soaked with these molecules and placed onto the surface of the CAM. Elvax 40 and hydron, first described by Folkman and Langer, are examples of polymers commonly used [108]. Polymers in combination with an angiogenic factor elicit a vasoproliferative response 72 to 96 hours after placement onto the CAM. An increased vessel density was observed around the implant with vessels converging towards the center [109]. On the other hand, when polymers were combined with an anti-angiogenic factor, the vessels were observed to decrease in density and eventually vanished [110].

The corneal angiogenesis model is considered to be one of the best in vivo models of angiogenesis. Since the cornea is normally avascular, the production of an angiogenic reaction is the most convincing illustration of true vascularization [111]. The test tumors or tissues are introduced in the cornea of rabbits, mice, or rats through a pocket made in the cornea at a safe distance from the limbus, as can be seen in figure 2.5. The test substances that would induce angiogenesis in the corneal pocket are introduced in slowrelease materials such as the ethylene vinyl copolymer (ELVAX), Hydron, or a sponge material. Due to the avascular nature of the cornea, introducing angiogenic stimulators creates an environment for easy quantification of blood vessels, thus any vessels formed are new vessels [112]. A slit lamp stereomicroscope is used to evaluate the vasoproliferative response. Vessel budding from the limbal plexus is scored as a positive response, occurring after 3 to 4 days. Capillaries were observed to reach the implanted pellet in 7 to 10 days. Implants that do not produce neovessel growth within 10 days are scored as a negative response [113]. The number and growth rate of newly formed blood vessels are used to estimate the intensity of angiogenic activity. An angiogenic score is calculated using the formula of vessel density times the distance from the limbus [114]. Other methods have been reported to improve quantification, such as video data acquisition and computerized image analysis [115-117].



Figure 2.6 Location of the cornea and limbus on the eye [118].

The subcutaneous implant model, which involves trapping the angiogenic factor within a polymer matrix (a sponge-like structure or matrigel plug), has been used to study *in vivo* angiogenesis [119, 120]. One of the characteristics of matrigel is that it is in liquid form at 4°C and a solid gel at 37°C. This feature is used in the matrigel plug model, where the liquid containing the test substance is injected subcutaneously, and the matrigel becomes solid under the skin of the test animal [87]. When angiogenic factors are suspended in the gel, this induces an angiogenic response through a slow release of the growth factors to the neighboring tissue. The response can be quantified by measuring the amount of endothelial cell vessel growth or the quantity of hemoglobin in the plug. Since the matrigel is avascular, any vessel formed within the plug can be considered a new vessel [121].

2.4.5 In Vitro Versus in Vivo Models of Angiogenesis

In vivo models mimic the normal and pathologic states of angiogenesis. *In vivo* models also provide more information than *in vitro* models as a result of the complex cellular and molecular activities of angiogenic reactions, as long as the biology of the assay and the experimental design are pertinent [104]. However, there are several disadvantages associated with modeling angiogenesis *in vivo*. They suffer from batch to batch variability, making it difficult to maintain homogeneity between experiments. They do not have the advantage of controlling one or more variables in order to study the effect of a single variable on the system. This makes quantification of the response from a single variable very difficult in this model. *In vivo* models involve numerous cell types, which does not allow identification of the direct effects on endothelial cell functions only [16]. In addition, they are time consuming, expensive, and require technical expertise in animal handling. The problems associated with in vivo models, limit the number of tests than can be performed at a time. Thus, several *in vitro* models have been developed for carrying out studies that have been difficult to assess *in vivo*.

In vitro angiogenesis models are essential because they create an environment where researchers can have control of many variables associated with the angiogenesis process. They also permit the analysis of isolated processes involved in angiogenesis, unlike their *in vivo* counterparts that model angiogenesis as a whole. *In vitro* angiogenesis models provide an alternative to using animals for testing. They are also less expensive than *in vivo* models, especially when it comes to performing experiments on a large scale [16]. They are easily quantifiable, but interpretation of results obtained should be done with caution. *In vitro* models provide initial information and are subject to validation by

using *in vivo* models, since they represent the exact angiogenesis environment. Also more than one *in vivo* model should be used to confirm in vitro results, due to variations that exist in species or animals used for testing, microenvironments, organ sites, and method of applying the test substances [122].

2.5 Design of a Novel Three Dimensional Vascular Tissue Model

The lack of suitable 3D angiogenesis tissue models that closely mimic physiological conditions useful for studying anti-angiogenic drugs led to the development of a novel 3D tissue model. The novel design consists of endothelial cells cultured on bovine type 1 collagen in a Transwell® permeable support. These supports/inserts are positioned in a 24-well tissue culture plate. They have been used to develop 3D models that would determine migratory or invasive response of endothelial cells to an angiogenesis stimulating or inhibiting factor [123]. Endothelial cells respond to angiogenic factors along a gradient through a process called chemotaxis. Chemotaxis as seen in figure 2.7 below is defined as cell movement towards an extracellular gradient of a bioactive molecules, such as a chemokine or ligand [124].



Figure 2.7 Chemotaxis direction of a cell [125]

The Transwell[®] insert divides the system into two compartments. A porous filter located at the bottom, as can be seen in figure 2.8 below, separates the upper compartment from the lower compartment. The membrane pores are of defined diameter with 3.0 µm selected for the use of endothelial cells. This pore size allows cell migration and diffusion of chemoattractants through the filters to the extracellular matrix, but prevents endothelial cells from migrating through the membrane. The use of a porous filter in a Transwell[®] assay was first identified by Stephen Boyden, who studied the chemotactic activity of ploymophonuclear leucocytes [126]. The cells were placed in the upper compartment, while the chemoattractant was placed in the lower compartment to induce migration of leukocytes. This Transwell[®] assay used for studying cell migration. The main advantage of using this Transwell[®] is because of the sensitivity to small changes in concentration gradients [127].

The novel 3D system mimics an environment close to physiological conditions. As shown in figure 2.9, blood vessels within the eye are located at the back of the eye. When external agents (drugs) for treating diabetic retinopathy are added from the front they diffuse through the extracellular matrix towards the blood vessels to hinder proliferation and differentiation of endothelial cells. The novel 3D *in vitro* design provides ports at the sides for easy delivery of the anti-angiogenic drug to the bottom compartment. The drug then diffuses through the matrix towards the endothelial cells. Thus, this simulates the *in vivo* environment within the eye and can be used for studying an anti-angiogenesis drug.




Figure 2.8 Transwell Permeable Support

Figure 2.9 Inside the Human Eye [128]

PROJECT OBJECTIVES

- 1. Develop a 3D vascular tissue model to study angiogenesis
- 2. Study the effect of an anti-angiogenesis drug on endothelial cells in the model
- 3. Develop a novel 3D angiogenesis tissue model
- 4. Determine the effect of vascular endothelial growth factor concentration added to the 3D vascular tissue model on angiogenesis
- Determine the effect of collagen thickness in the 3D vascular tissue model on angiogenesis

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

3.1 Materials

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) were purchased from PromCell (Heidelberg, Germany); bovine type 1 collagen was purchased from Advanced BioMatrix (Tucson, Az); fetal bovine serum (FBS) was purchased from Hyclone (Logan, UT); 1X and 10X medium 199, penicillin-streptomycin-glutamine (PSG), trypsin-EDTA and dulbecco's phosphate buffered solution (DPBS) were purchased from Invitrogen Corporation (Carlsbad, CA); human fibronectin was purchased from Biomedical Technologies Inc. (Stoughton,MA); Cell Titer Blue cell viability assay was purchased from Promega Corporation (Madison, WI); vascular endothelial growth factor was purchased from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN); 24-well transwell® permeable supports were purchased Corning Incorporated Life Sciences (Lowell, MA); human VEGF ELISA development kit was purchased from Preprotech (Rocky Hill, NJ); Tween 20 and albumin bovine serum (BSA) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO); ELISA microplates were purchased from Greiner Bio-One (Monroe, NC).

3.2 Cell Culture

HUVECs were cultured in 1X Medium 199 supplemented with 1% PSG and 20% FBS. The cells were grown in a T-75 flask in a humidified 5% carbon dioxide (CO₂), 95% air incubator at 37°C (standard conditions). These conditions were used for all experiments. The cell culture media was changed every other day until HUVECs were 95 -100% confluent. The time period for HUVECs to become confluent was approximately seven days.

3.3 Development of a Three Dimensional Vascular Tissue Model to Test the Effect of an Anti-Angiogenesis Drug

The 3D vascular tissue model consisted of HUVECs grown on a 3D collagen matrix within a 96 well solid plate. The collagen gel was prepared by mixing 8 parts bovine type 1 collagen (3 mg/ml), 1 part 10x Medium 199 and 5 parts 0.1 M sodium hydroxide in a centrifuge tube. To a single well, 50 µl of the prepared collagen solution was added and incubated for an hour for the solution to gel. To the top of each collagen gel, 100 µl of complete media containing 20% FBS and 1% PSG was added and incubated at standard conditions from 4-24 hrs for the system to attain equilibrium. The HUVECs were seeded on the collagen gel at a density of 100,000 cells/cm² and incubated at standard conditions. The complete media was changed the next day and then every other day until the cells were 95 % to 100 % confluent. The cells became confluent on collagen gels in about five to seven days. Experiments were carried out in triplicate samples. Figure 3.1 shows a diagram describing the development of the 3D tissue model.



Figure 3.1 3D vascular tissue model development in a 96 well solid plate

The tissue model was used to test the effect of the anti-angiogenesis drug called CLT-003, a thalidomide analogue. To examine the effect of the drug on angiogenesis within the tissue model, cell viability (ability of cells to survive), proliferation (rapid increase in cell number), migration (distance travelled by cells into the collagen) and number of sprouts were analyzed. Various methods were used to evaluate the cellular functions associated with angiogenesis, as described in sections 3.3.1 and 3.3.2 below.

3.3.1 Cell Titer-Blue Viability Assay

This assay was used to measure viability and proliferation of HUVECs at different time points. The Cell Titer Blue viability assay estimates the number of viable cells present in each well by using an indicator dye resazurin, present in a buffered solution, to measure the metabolic capacity of cells. The viable cells reduce resazurin into resorufin, which is highly fluorescent, but the non-viable cells do not reduce the dye and thus give off no fluorescent signal. The reagent is added directly to each well. It is initially dark blue in color and has minimum fluorescence until it changes to a pink color. This indicates that resazurin has been reduced to resorufin, which is highly fluorescence, giving it a pink color. The signal could be measured by either fluorescence or absorbance. Fluorescence is the preferred method used as a result of its higher sensitivity and the fewer calculations involved. Figure 3.2 shows an overview of the cell titer blue viability assay from the first steps of adding the reagent to the final step of measuring the fluorescence signal of each sample.



Figure 3.2 Cell Titer-Blue Cell Viability Assay [129]

In the 3D tissue model, 20 µl of reagent was added (at specified time points) directly to the cells in the culture media and incubated for four hours, after which the fluorescence signal was measured using a fluorometer. The fluorescence was measured at excitation 560 nm and emission 590 nm. The fluorescence signal measured was proportional to the number of viable cells. The number of cells were calculated by using a quadratic relationship that exists with measured fluorescence, determined by measuring standards. Standards were used to relate the number of cells per well to the measured fluorescence signal. They were prepared by seeding HUVECs at different seeding densities on collagen and incubating them for four hours. The reagent was added to these samples, and the fluorescence was measured using the spectrophotometer. A graph of the fluorescence signal for the number of cells per well was plotted and the number of cells per well was calculated from the quadratic equation shown in figure 3.3 below.





Titer Blue assay.

3.3.2 Microscopic Evaluation of Migration and Number of Sprouts

A sprout is a branch or a shoot from a growing cell. Number of sprouts were measured by visually counting by using a phase contrast inverted microscope and a cell counter. Sprouts were counted for each well at 100x magnification. Since samples were done in triplicates, the average and the standard deviations were calculated for number of sprouts counted in each well. Below is a picture showing an example of sprouts at 100x, 250x and 400x magnifications, respectively.



Figure 3.4 Sprouts in the 3D vascular tissue model at 100x, 250x and 400x magnification

Cell migration was measured by calculating the depth of migration from the surface of the collagen into the matrix as shown in figure 3.5. A glass cover slip with a known thickness was used as a standard to calculate the actual cell migration distance. The thickness of the glass cover slip was measured to be 1 mm using a micrometer screw gauge. This thickness corresponds to 3.45 revolutions, using the fine-focus knob of the microscope. By using the standard measurements, the depth of cell migration was determined and the average and standard deviation calculated from triplicate samples.



Figure 3.5 Measuring the depth of migration in a single well

3.3.3 Effect of Thalidomide Analogue on Endothelial Cell Viability, Proliferation, Number of Sprouts, and Migration in Growth Factor Model.

Thalidomide analogue, CLT-003 was initially tested in a growth factor model. This model consists of HUVECs grown on collagen gels in a 96 well solid plate, as described in section 3.3 above with the exception of the culture media used was called a Growth Factor Media. The growth factor media contained M199 with 20% FBS, 1% PSG and a growth factor cocktail with the following: 40 ng/ml VEGF, 40 ng/ml bFGF, 50 ng/ml phorbol ester, and 50 µg/ml ascorbic acid. The model was called the growth factor model because of the presence of this growth factor cocktail. In this model, the effect of two concentrations of CLT-003, 32 µM and 64 µM, was tested on cell viability, proliferation, migration and number of sprouts. The wells that had the drug concentrations added to the cells were called "with CLT-003". The control group for this experiment consisted of wells with no drug added to the cells. The control samples were called "without CLT-003". When endothelial cells had attained 100% confluence, within 24 hours the media was changed to growth factor media containing CLT-003. For the control group, the growth factor media was replaced with fresh growth factor media. This day was called day 0. The drug was initially added for a final concentration of 32µM

in the media. Thereafter the growth factor media was changed to fresh growth factor media without drug on all samples on Days 1, 3, and 7 after adding the drug. On day 9, CLT-003 was added again to the test group at twice the initial concentration level, final concentration of 64 μ M in the media, and the growth factor media was changed on day 10 and 16. The control group was replaced with fresh growth factor media for the same time points. Separate samples were prepared for the viability and proliferation tests and for the migration and number of sprouts tests. Viability and proliferation tests were carried out on Days 1, 3, 7, 10 and 16. Number of sprouts and migration measurements were carried out on Days 2, 3, 6, 9, 10, 13, and 16. Analyses were performed before the fresh growth factor media and drug media were added to the samples. At the required time point, the viability and proliferation, and migration and number of sprouts were analyzed as described in sections 3.3.1 and 3.3.2 using the cell titer blue viability assay and microscopic evaluation, respectively.

3.3.4 Effect of Thalidomide Analogue on Endothelial Cell Viability, Proliferation, Number of sprouts and Migration in Normal Model.

The second model was called the Normal Model due to the absence of a growth factor cocktail. It was made up of cells cultured in M199 with 20% FBS and 1% PSG. The effect of the two drug concentrations, 32 μ M and 64 μ M was also tested on cell viability, proliferation, migration and number of sprouts within this model. However, the two drug concentrations were tested separately and only applied to the samples once. As before, the control group for this experiment was samples with media containing no drug. When cells were 95% to 100% confluent, within 24 hours the media were removed from

the samples and fresh media containing either 32 μ M or 64 μ M of CLT-003 for the test samples or no drug for the control samples were added. This day was called day 0. The media was changed on all samples to fresh media on days 1, 4, 7, 10, and 13. Separate samples were prepared for cell viability and proliferation samples and for number of sprouts samples. These tests were carried out as described in section 3.3.1 and 3.3.2 on days 1, 3, 7, 10 and 14 days after adding CLT-003.

3.4 Characterization of Novel 3D Angiogenesis Tissue Model

A novel 3D angiogenesis model that better mimics physiological conditions than the previous models was developed. It consists of HUVECs grown on collagen gels in Transwell[®] permeable supports/inserts. These inserts are placed in each well of a 24 well plate. Each insert has a microporous membrane located at the bottom of the insert. The membrane is 6.5 mm in diameter, has a pore size of 3.0 µm, and an insert membrane growth area of 0.33 cm². The Transwell® supports are made from polycarbonate and have a nominal membrane thickness of 10 μ m and 2 x 10⁶ pores/cm² nominal pore density. The Transwell® inserts divide the model into two compartments, referred to as the upper and the lower compartments. This format provides access to the top and bottom surface of the collagen matrix for easy delivery of factors, which makes it more advantageous than previous models where factors could only be delivered to the top surface of the matrix. Figure 3.6 shows the Transwell® membrane wells and the process for making the 3D vascular tissue model. Collagen solution (8 parts bovine type 1 collagen (3 mg/ml), 1 part 10x Medium 199 and 5 parts 0.1 M sodium hydroxide) is added to the inserts at 50 µl volume and incubated for one hour at standard conditions to

gel. Complete media, containing 10% FBS and 1% PSG was added to the top of the collagen in each insert and to the bottom chamber below the membrane. The volumes added were 100 µl to the top and 650 µl to the bottom compartment. The addition of these volumes resulted in equal liquid levels for inside and outside the well, in order to establish equilibrium. Then the inserts were incubated for 4-24 hrs prior to cell seeding. Afterwards, HUVECs were seeded on collagen gels at a seeding density of 100,000 cell/cm². The complete media was changed in both compartments every two days until cells were about 95% to 100% confluent. The cells became confluent in about three to five days. The model was characterized by employing changes in collagen thickness and VEGF concentration added to the wells.



Figure 3.6 Development of a novel 3D angiogenesis tissue model on a Transwell®

permeable support

3.4.1 Effect of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor and Collagen Thickness on Endothelial Cell Viability, Proliferation, Number of Sprouts and Migration

Changes in VEGF concentration and collagen thickness were the two design variables chosen to characterize the new 3D tissue model. VEGF concentration was varied at 5 ng/ml, 50 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml, and collagen thickness was varied at 0.73 mm, 2.01 mm and 4.28 mm. The effect of VEGF concentration added to the model and changes in collagen thickness on endothelial cell viability, proliferation, number of sprouts and migration was studied.

To test the two design variables, for a single experiment, collagen thickness was held constant and VEGF concentration was varied. A control group containing no addition of VEGF was used to normalize the samples, in order to compare them to other experiments with a different collagen thickness. In more detail, the 3D vascular tissue model was constructed by setting the collagen thickness. Collagen thickness was set by controlling the volume of collagen solution added to each well. For the first experiment, 50 µl of collagen solution was added to each well, which resulted in a collagen gel thickness of 0.73 μ m. To the top compartment, 100 μ l of complete media was added and to the bottom compartment 650 µl of complete media containing either 0, 5, 50, or 100 ng/ml of VEGF was added to their respective wells. VEGF was added to the bottom chamber in order to simulate physiological conditions. In vivo, VEGF is released by cells into the surrounding ECM, which leads to concentration gradients that can stimulate cell proliferation and directional cell sprouting and migration. Delivery of VEGF to the bottom chamber can lead to concentration gradients within the collagen matrix that would stimulate cell proliferation, migration, and sprouting from the HUVES on the top surface.

The plates were incubated and the media was changed with fresh complete media in the top compartment and fresh VEGF growth factor media in the bottom compartment of the plates in their respective wells on Days 3, 6, 9, 12, and 15 post seeding. Prior to media changes on these days, viability and proliferation, number of sprouts, and migration analyses were performed. Viability and proliferation analysis was performed on one set of tissue model samples and migration and number of sprouts analyses were performed on another set of tissue model samples, all following the same experimental conditions. The experiment was repeated for the next two collagen thicknesses of 100 μ l and 150 μ l collagen solution added to each well, which resulted in 2.01 mm and 4.28 mm collagen gel thicknesses, respectively.

For this model, viability and proliferation was also measured using the cell titerblue viability assay. Due to the porous membrane at the bottom of the insert, the protocol had to be modified. If the reagent was added to the top of the wells, it would leak through the pores and be diluted in the solution in the bottom compartment. In order to prevent the reagent from leaving the top compartment, parafilm was gently wrapped round the lower portion of the insert and a rubber ring was attached onto this lower portion as shown in figure 3.7 below. The parafilm and the rubber stop were able to hold the reagent for the required analysis time.



Figure 3.7 Front and bottom view of the membrane insert

At each time point, the culture medium in the top and bottom compartments was aspirated for the wells to be analyzed. Next, the parafilm and rubber ring were attached to the insert as described above. Then 100 μ l of fresh complete media was added to the top of the collagen followed by 20 μ l of cell titer blue reagent. The plates were placed inside the incubator for four hours. At the end of the incubation period, the reagent in the complete media on top of the gel was mixed gently using a micro pipette and 100 μ l of sample was transferred from each well into assigned wells in a 96 well plate. The fluorescence signal for each well was measured using the spectrophotometer. Cell migration and number of sprouts were analyzed as described in sections 3.3.2.

3.5 Statistical Analysis

Data is expressed as mean \pm standard deviation for n = 3 samples. Data was analyzed by use of a student's t-test to determine the significance of any difference between the groups tested and the control. A value of p < 0.05 was considered significant. Sample measurements were normalized based on the 0 ng/ml VEGF concentration control group.

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Development of a Three Dimensional Vascular Tissue Model to Test the Effect of an Anti-Angiogenesis Drug

4.1.1 Effect of thalidomide analogue on viability, proliferation, number of sprouts and migration in the Growth Factor Model

The aim of this study was to develop a three dimensional vascular tissue model, which can be used to study the effect of a novel anti-angiogenesis drug called CLT-003, a thalidomide analogue, on angiogenesis. The 3D *in vitro* model was made up of HUVECs grown on a bovine type 1 collagen matrix in a 96 well solid plate using a growth factor cocktail as the stimulant. HUVECs viability, proliferation, number of sprouts and migration was measured within the vascular tissue model in order to determine the effect of CLT-003 on angiogenesis. Collagen was the extracellular matrix (ECM) selected because it is the most abundant protein in the ECM. Out of the 25 different collagen molecules present, type 1 is the most widely distributed in the body; it accounts for 90% of the collagen in the human body. In addition, it provides the chemical and physical cues required to stimulate morphogenesis and many cell functions [130]. Angiogenic growth factors are essential for promoting the angiogenic events that occur during the angiogenesis process. For this model, the growth factor cocktail based on Davis and

Camarillo's [131] work was chosen to stimulate proliferation and differentiation of endothelial cells. The growth factor cocktail consists of 40 ng/ml VEGF, 40 ng/ml bFGF, 50 ng/ml phorbol ester, and 50 μ g/ml ascorbic acid.

Due to the use of a growth factor cocktail, this model is referred to as the Growth Factor model. In this model, the effect of CLT-003 at two concentrations, 32 μ M and 64 μ M, on endothelial cell viability, proliferation, number of sprouts and migration was tested. When endothelial cells were 100% confluent, the drug was added at 32 μ M and the time considered as Day 0. Cell viability and proliferation was measured using the Cell Titer Blue viability assay on Days 1, 3, and 7. It was observed that at the 32 μ M concentration of CLT-003, there was no significant change in the angiogenesis mechanisms, thus the drug dosage was doubled and 64 μ M was added on Day 9. Viability and proliferation was measured on Days 10 and 16. During the experimental period, the media containing the growth factor cocktail was changed on the same day when viability and proliferation measurements were carried out, on Days 1, 3, 7, 10, and 16. Figure 4.1 shows the effect of the drug on cell viability and proliferation for the various time points. Samples without the addition of CLT-003 served as the control group.

When CLT-003 was added at 32 μ M on Day 0, there was a slight decrease in the number of cells per well from Days 1 to 3 of approximately 125,000 cells per well on Day 1 to 115,000 cells per well on Day 3. The control samples on these two days were observed to increase from approximately 154,000 cells per well on Day 1 to 164,000 cells per well on Day 3. This was an indication of the early effects of the drug in reducing cell

viability. The decrease in the number of viable cells per well was significant for the CLT-003 group compared to the control group, but the decrease in the number of viable cells per well for the CLT-003 from Day 1 to Day 3 was not significant.



Figure 4.1 Effect of CLT-003 on cell viability and proliferation in the Growth Factor Model. Data shown are mean values ± sd; n=3. The samples with CLT-003 showed a significant decrease in the average number of viable cells per well compared to the samples without CLT-003 (p<0.05).

From Day 3 to 7, it can be seen that the number of viable cells increased significantly from approximately 115,000 cells per well to 154,000 cells per well. However, the increase was not as great as compared to the control, which also had an increase of approximately 164,000 cells per well to 197,000 cells per well. This increase does not reflect the normal mechanism of the thalidomide analogues in hindering viability and proliferation of endothelial cells *in vitro* [66]. Therefore, it was concluded that the 32 μ M CLT-003 concentration reduced endothelial cell viability and proliferation initially, but the cells started to recover and cell viability and proliferation increased. When the drug concentration added to the tissue model was increased to 64 µM, cell viability and proliferation was significantly reduced, compared to the samples with only 32 µM of the drug and the control. There was a significant decrease from approximately 154,000 cells per well on Day 7 to 10,000 cells per well on Day 16. These results signify that a higher thalidomide concentration produces a greater effect in reducing endothelial cell viability and proliferation. The observed decrease on Day 16 may not be completely attributed to the increase in drug concentration, since the viability of the control samples decreased as well. A significant decrease in number of viable cells per well was also observed for the control samples on Day 10 and Day 16 from approximately 180,000 cells to 97,000 cells per well respectively. This may show that the cells are only viable in this type of culture system and conditions for 16 days. Therefore, the effects of the drug should be tested when the cells are fully viable, within the 16 day limit. It was concluded that CLT-003 at 64 µM had a greater effect on viability and proliferation of endothelial than CLT-003 at 32 µM.

The effect of CLT-003 on endothelial cell sprouting and migration was also studied within the collagen matrix in the model. Figures 4.2 and 4.3 show the average number of sprouts and depth of cell migration with time for samples with and without the drug added. Samples without CLT-003 served as the control. Both the number of sprouts and cell migration were measured microscopically. Cell migration was measured as the distance the cells migrated from the surface of the collagen down into the collagen matrix. The drug was added to the samples at 32 μ M on Day 0 and 64 μ M was added on Day 9. Cell sprouting and migration measurements were carried out on Days 2, 3, 6, 9, 10, 13, and 16. As shown in figure 4.2, the number of sprouts was observed to increase with time for the control samples. There was an increase of approximately 80, 120, 180, 300, 360, 410, and 600 sprouts per well on Days 2, 3, 6, 9, 10, 13, and 16 respectively. After the addition of 32 μ M of CLT-003, no sprouts were observed on the Days 2 and 3 compared to the control sample. However, sprouts were observed on Days 6 and 9 with 29 and 53 sprouts, respectively. Adding CLT-003 at 64 µM on Day 9 removed existing sprouts and prevented cell sprouting for five days. Possible sprout recovery was observed on Day 16 with approximately two sprouts (not visible in the figure). Figure 4.3 shows a similar effect for the depth of cell migration. The control group samples showed enhanced migration of 0.37 mm, 0.35 mm, 0.61 mm, 0.62 mm, 0.60 mm, 0.68 mm, and 0.69 mm on Days 2, 3, 6, 9, 10, 13 and 16, respectively. No migration was observed after adding 32 µM CLT-003, until Days 6 and 9 with 0.35 mm and 0.40 mm migration depth, respectively. There was also significant cell migration of 0.29 mm on Day 16 after adding 64 µM CLT-003 on Day 9.



Figure 4.2 Effect of CLT-003 on the number of sprouts in the Growth Factor Model. Data shown are mean values \pm sd; n=3. The samples with CLT-003 showed a significant decrease in the number of sprouts per well compared to the samples without CLT-003 (p<0.05).



Figure 4.3 Effect of CLT-003 on cell migration in the Growth Factor Model. Data shown are mean values \pm sd; n=3. The samples with CLT-003 showed a significant decrease in cell migration compared to the samples without CLT-003 (p<0.05).

The recovery observed for both cell sprouting and migration is believed to be the result of adding the growth factor media, which counteracted the normal mechanisms of the drug. It can also be observed that both cell sprouting and migration recovery occurred six days after adding the drug at the lower concentration and seven days after adding the drug at the higher drug concentration. This recovery shows that for this model, CLT-003 may no longer have an effect on cell sprouting and migration occurring after six or seven days. It

is possible that cell recovery in sprouts and migration may be described as a phenomenon known as 'secondary sprouting' where endothelial cells were observed to survive after tube collapse and migration from secondary sprouts occurs [132]. Comparing these results to those for viability and proliferation, it was observed that CLT-003 had a more significant effect on the number of sprouts and cell migration than viability and proliferation, compared to the respective control samples.

Based on the results, it was concluded that the growth factor model was not suitable for studying the effect of CLT-003 on angiogenesis within the tissue model because the growth factor cocktail induced endothelial cell recovery after adding either 32 μ M or 64 μ M of CLT-003. Since it is believed that the growth factor cocktail competes with the drug, another model was developed by taking the growth factor cocktail out of the system. This model was called the Normal Model.

4.1.2 Effect of thalidomide analogue on viability, proliferation and number of sprouts in the Normal Model

For the Normal Model, CLT-003 concentrations of 32 μ M and 64 μ M were added to separate samples on Day 0, in order to test the effect of the drug at various concentrations on angiogenesis within the model. Samples were analyzed on Days 1, 3, 7, 10 and 14 after adding the drug. The complete media was changed on Days 1, 4, 7, 10 and 13 after adding the drug. For sample analysis and media changes occurring on the same days, samples were taken for analysis prior to media changes. Samples without CLT-003 added served as the control. Figures 4.4 and 4.5 shows the effect of CLT-003 on endothelial cell viability and the number of sprouts for the two drug concentrations added to the Normal Model, respectively.

As shown in Figure 4.4, compared to the control, a significant decrease in viability was observed when 32 μ M and 64 μ M CLT-003 were added to the cells. The addition of the higher thalidomide concentration to the samples showed a more significant decrease in cell viability with time compared to the control than for the addition of the lower drug concentration. When comparing cell viability in the Normal Model compared to the Growth Factor Model, no cell recovery was observed, and the drug demonstrated its expected mechanism in reducing cell viability and proliferation. Comparing Day 1 of the two models after adding 32 μ M CLT-003, the Normal Model had a more significant decrease in cell viability than the Growth Factor Model with a decrease of approximately 32% compared to 19%, respectively. The viability of the control samples in Figure 4.4 were observed to increase significantly from Day 1 to Day 10 with approximately 76,000 cells per well and 115,000 cells per well, respectively. However, a decrease was observed from Day 10 to Day 14 with approximately 115,000 cells per well and 77,000 cells per well, respectively. A similar effect was also seen in the control samples for the Growth Factor Model. This shows that cell viability and proliferation may be limited to approximately ten days for the solid well plate format either with or without growth factors.

To further demonstrate the effectiveness of the drug on angiogenesis in the model, the number of sprouts was also investigated, and the results are shown in Figure 4.5. After the drug was added, no sprouts were observed on the Day 1 and 3. Possible sprout recovery was observed from Days 7 to 14 for both CLT-003 concentrations. However, due to the large standard deviation for these samples, the number of sprouts may be insignificant. Any possible recovery may be due to the regular change in complete media, which dilutes the drug within the system.



Figure 4.4 Effect of thalidomide analogue on viability and proliferation in the Normal Model. Data shown are mean values \pm sd; n=3. The samples with CLT-003 showed a significant decrease in cell viability and proliferation compared to the samples without CLT-003 (p<0.05).

Complete media also naturally contains low levels of angiogenic factors, which stimulate cell growth and sprouting. The control samples in Figure 4.5 were observed to also increase with time from approximately 15 sprouts on the Day 1 to 53 sprouts on Day 14.



Figure 4.5 Effect of CLT-003 on the number of sprouts in the Normal Model. Data shown are mean values \pm sd; n=3. The samples with CLT-003 showed a significant decrease in the number of sprouts compared to the samples without CLT-003 (p<0.05).

Without the presence of a growth factor cocktail, CLT-003 at both concentrations significantly reduced viability and proliferation of endothelial cells with time. The Normal Model also showed minimal sprout recovery compared to the Growth Factor Model. Thus from the overall study with CLT-003, it can be concluded that the Normal Model was more suitable for studying the effect of the drug on angiogenesis than the Growth Factor Model. Even though it was a better model, there was still a need to improve the viability of endothelial cells in the control samples for the model. It was also necessary to find an alternative method to deliver the drug to the tissue model that better mimics how the drug is administered to the eye. For drug delivery to the eye, the drug is delivered to the front of the eye and diffuses through the matrix to reach the blood vessels located at the back of the eye. In the solid well plate tissue models, the drug was administered directly to the cells, which corresponds to the drug being delivered directly to the blood vessels, and thus did not give an accurate description of what happens in *vivo*. A better representation of *in vivo* conditions would be delivery of the drug to the collagen matrix side, so the drug can diffuse through the collagen matrix and reach the endothelial cells on the other side. For this reason, a new model that would improve the viability of endothelial cells and allow for the delivery of factors to the matrix site was developed. It is proposed that this new system would be a better physiological model because it gives a better imitation of drug delivery to the eye and angiogenesis occurring within the eye than the other models. The two variables tested in the new model were the concentration of VEGF added to the cells and the collagen thickness. The improved model could then be used to study the effectiveness of CLT-003 and other therapeutic strategies on angiogenesis.

4.2 Characterization of a Novel 3D Angiogenesis Tissue Model.

When designing this model, changes in VEGF concentration and collagen thickness were tested as the design variables because they have been shown from literature and previous work to be important variables affecting the angiogenesis of endothelial cells within a 3D model. HUVECs were chosen for this study because of their use in previous experiments and other studies in literature. Membrane plates were used to develop the 3D model. Each well in the plate contains a permeable membrane insert/support that divides the well into two compartments. A microporous membrane located at the bottom of the insert separates the two compartments and allows passage of factors from the upper compartment to the lower compartment in the well. The membrane plates provide access to a basolateral compartment to deliver a VEGF and access to an apical compartment to deliver complete media in the absence of VEGF. Delivery of VEGF this way would provide easy delivery of nutrients to the cells and it would simulate the diffusion of VEGF through the matrix to reach its receptors located on the endothelial cells on the top surface, similar to as it occurs *in vivo*. The ability to deliver VEGF to the endothelial cells in this manner makes the membrane plate format more advantageous than the solid plate format.

VEGF is an endothelial cell-specific mitogen known to induce proliferation and differentiation of endothelial cells that occurs in angiogenesis. Therefore one of the aims of this study was to investigate the effect of VEGF on HUVECs viability, proliferation, number of sprouts and migration in the novel 3D angiogenesis tissue model. VEGF concentration was varied at 5 ng/ml, 50 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml in order to measure the effect of different levels of stimuli on endothelial cell angiogenesis within the 3D tissue

model. Viability, proliferation, number of sprouts and migration of HUVECs were measured on Days 3, 6, 9, 12, and 15 after the addition of VEGF. VEGF was not added to Non-Growth Factor (NGF) samples and served as the control group. The control group was cultured in media containing 10% FBS and 1% PSG. FBS is an essential requirement for cells, it enables cells to proliferate and live properly within an *in vitro* environment. However, it is not as effective as VEGF, which also stimulates sprouting and migration of endothelial cells.

Collagen is an essential structural protein in the ECM that supports endothelial cell growth and provides a medium for cell movement and interactions. The the second aim was to study the effect of collagen thickness on HUVECs viability, proliferation, number of sprouts and migration in the novel 3D angiogenesis tissue model. The collagen thickness in the tissue model mimics the distance between an endothelial cell and the source of stimulant, i.e. VEGF. The thickness also represents the diffusional distances a factor must travel to reach the cells, which results in local concentration gradients. Collagen thickness was varied at 0.73 mm, 2.01 mm, and 4.28 mm.

4.2.1 Effect of vascular endothelial growth factor on endothelial cell viability and proliferation

Figure 4.6 describes the percent difference in viability and proliferation of endothelial cells with time in response to increasing VEGF concentrations for the tissue model with a collagen thickness of 0.73 mm compared to the NGF control group. The percentage values above zero represents more viable cells compared to the NGF sample and percentage values below zero represent less viable cells compared to the NGF sample. It can be observed that when 5 ng/ml VEGF was added to cells, it slightly increased viability and proliferation; however, these values were not significant compared to the control.





When 50 ng/ml VEGF was added, a significant increase in viability was observed on Days 3, 9, 12, and 15 with 65%, 45%, 42%, and 88%, respectively. A significant increase was also observed when cells were exposed to 100 ng/ml VEGF concentration on Days 3, 9, 12, and 15 with 86%, 53%, 53%, and 105%, respectively. These numbers indicate that

50 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml VEGF concentrations had a greater effect in stimulating cell viability and proliferation than 5 ng/ml compared to the control. However, it was also observed that 100 ng/ml did not significantly increase viability and proliferation compared to the 50 ng/ml. The results obtained for 0.73 mm collagen thickness suggests that VEGF stimulates viability and proliferation of endothelial cells with an increase in VEGF concentration.

Figure 4.7 describes the percent difference in viability and proliferation of endothelial cells when exposed to various concentrations of VEGF for the tissue model with 2.01 mm collagen thickness compared to the NGF control group. When the collagen thickness is 2.01 mm, 5 ng/ml VEGF slightly increased cell viability and proliferation; however this effect was not significant compared to the control. When 50 ng/ml of VEGF was added to the cells, this gave a significant increase of approximately 73%, 31%, 216%, 170% and 146% on Days 3, 6, 9, 12 and 15, respectively. Adding 100 ng/ml VEGF to the cells also resulted in a significant increase of approximately 76%, 187%, 194% and 156% on Days 3, 9, 12 and 15, respectively. This increase in cell viability and proliferation clearly suggests that 50 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml has the same effect on viability and proliferation in this collagen thickness as shown in the 0.73 mm collagen thickness samples. Also, both concentrations show approximately the same effect on endothelial cells for both collagen thicknesses tested. The reason the 100 ng/ml concentration does not show an increase in cell viability and proliferation compared to the 50 ng/ml concentration may be due to cell receptor saturation. For example, there is a maximum number of receptors on the cell surface to bind with VEGF and the 50 ng/ml VEGF concentration leads to enough VEGF in the system to bind with all of these receptors.

Therefore, the 100 ng/ml concentration leads to excess VEGF in the system that cannot bind with the receptors and does not lead to any further stimulation of the cells.



Figure 4.7 Effect of VEGF concentration on viability and proliferation in the tissue model with 2.01 mm collagen thickness. Data shown are mean values \pm sd; n=3. *p<0.05 vs. Non-Growth Factor sample.

Figure 4.8 illustrates the percent difference in viability and proliferation of endothelial cells in response to increasing VEGF concentration for the tissue model with a collagen thickness of 4.28 mm compared to the NGF control group. The figure below

shows no significant increase in cell viability and proliferation for this collagen thickness, when compared to the NGF control group. Endothelial cell viability was observed to be less than 25% in this collagen thickness for each VEGF concentration, which is significantly lower when compared to the 2.01 mm and 0.73 mm collagen thicknesses with cell viability and proliferation of approximately 200% and 100%, respectively. The decrease in viability and proliferation could possibly be due to insufficient nutrients and/or oxygen supplied to the cells, leading to a relative decrease in viability and proliferation has a negligible effect on viability and proliferation in 4.28 mm collagen thickness.





4.2.2 Effect of vascular endothelial growth factor on endothelial cell number of sprouts

The effect of VEGF concentration on the number of sprouts was also examined as shown in Figure 4.9 below. This graph illustrates the total number of sprouts counted per well in response to increasing VEGF concentration in the tissue model with 0.73 mm collagen thickness compared to the NGF control group (0 ng/ml VEGF). When 5 ng/ml of VEGF concentration was added to the cells, a slight increase in sprouts from endothelial cells was observed, but was not significant compared to the control. For the samples with 50 ng/ml VEGF added, there was a significant increase in sprout formation on Days 3 and 6 with approximately 17 and 23 sprouts, respectively. For the samples with 100 ng/ml VEGF added, there was a significant increase in sprout formation on Days 3, 6, and 12 with approximately 19, 11 and 14 sprouts, respectively. These results suggest that the number of sprouts from the cells increased when 50 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml VEGF concentrations were added to the cells, compared to the addition of the 5 ng/ml VEGF concentration. Each VEGF concentration was observed to increase cell sprouting on Day 9, however the samples show large standard deviations, which can be attributed to the high variability in analyzing the triplicate samples. A rapid increase in the number of sprouts was observed from Day 12 to 15 for the control group. Compared to this group, 5 ng/ml VEGF concentration had a - 6% decrease, 50 ng/ml VEGF concentration had an 8% increase, and 100 ng/ml VEGF concentration had a 21% increase in the number of sprouts.



Figure 4.9 Effect of VEGF concentration on the number of sprouts in the tissue model with 0.73 mm collagen thickness. Data shown are mean values \pm sd; n=3. *p<0.05 vs. 0 ng/ml VEGF sample.

On Day 15, viability was observed to be as high as 3% for 5 ng/ml VEGF, 88% for 50 ng/ml VEGF, and 100 % for 100 ng/ml VEGF, compared to the control. This suggests that viability and proliferation is independent of the number of sprouts from the cell within the tissue model. The effect of viability and proliferation on the total number of sprouts was also studied within the 2.01 mm and 4.28 mm collagen thicknesses (Data not shown). However, compared to the NGF control, there was no significant number of

sprouts observed for the tissue models with these collagen thicknesses. For this result, VEGF increases number of sprouts in only one collagen thickness, the 0.73 mm.

4.2.3 Effect of vascular endothelial growth factor on endothelial cell depth of migration

Figure 4.10 describes the maximum depth of migration achieved by the endothelial cells in response to increasing VEGF concentrations with respect to the NGF control group. For cell migration analyses in this model, the distance travelled by the cell into the collagen was measured for each triplicate sample and the average was calculated. Though cells are within the same culture conditions, there is a possibility that cell migration in each sample may vary, which would reflect large standard deviation in the data. Compared to the control group, 5 ng/ml of VEGF concentration showed an increase in depth of migration on Days 3, 9 and 15 with 0.59 mm, 0.47 mm, and 0.37 mm, respectively and a decrease on Days 6 and 12 with 0.44 mm and 0.36 mm, respectively. These values suggest that 5 ng/ml VEGF was not potent in enhancing cell migration into the collagen. When 50 ng/ml of VEGF was added, there was an increase in cell migration of approximately 0.66 mm, 0.65 mm, 0.47 mm and 0.46 mm on Days 3, 6, 9, and 15 compared to the control, respectively. However, minimum viability was observed on Days 9 and 12 for the samples exposed to 50 ng/ml VEGF. When 100 ng/ml VEGF was add to the tissue model, there was an increase in cell migration into the collagen with approximately 0.61 mm, 0.62 mm, 0.66 mm, 0.54 mm, and 0.48 mm on Days 3, 6, 9, 12 and 15, respectively. This suggests that 50 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml of VEGF enhanced cell migration into the collagen more than compared to 5 ng/ml of VEGF. The effect of VEGF concentration on the depth of cell migration within the tissue model was also studied within the 2.01 mm and 4.28 mm collagen thicknesses (Data not shown). However, compared to the NGF control, there was no significant cell migration observed for these thicknesses. In conclusion, VEGF enhanced cell migration in only the 0.73 mm collagen thickness and this was dependent on an increase in VEGF concentration.



Figure 4.10 Effect of VEGF concentration on depth of migration in the 0.73 mm collagen thickness. Data shown are mean values ± sd; n=3. *p<0.05 vs. 0 ng/ml VEGF sample.
4.2.4 Effect of collagen thickness on endothelial cell viability and proliferation

Figure 4.11, 4.12 and 4.13 illustrates the percent difference in cell viability and proliferation associated with increasing collagen thickness for 5 ng/ml, 50 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml VEGF concentrations compared to the NGF control group, respectively. It can be observed that cell viability and proliferation increased slightly in each collagen thickness for 5 ng/ml. However, taking the standard deviation into consideration, this increase was not significant compared to the control. This shows that the addition of the low concentration of VEGF to the tissue model did not stimulate an increase in cell viability and proliferation in any of the collagen thicknesses tested, compared to the NGF control sample.

According to Figure 4.12 for samples exposed to 50 ng/ml, there was an increase in cell viability and proliferation for the 2.01 mm collagen thickness samples on Days 6, 9, 12, and 15 with 31%, 216%, 170%, and 146% compared to the 0.73 mm collagen thickness samples, respectively. On the other hand, the 4.28 mm collagen thickness samples showed a significant decrease in cell viability and proliferation compared to the 0.73 mm collagen thickness samples on Days 3, 9, 12 and 15 with 26%, 2%, 7% and 11%, respectively. These numbers reassert the multi-functional role collagen plays in supporting endothelial cell viability and proliferation. Since collagen can serve as a storage site for growth factors, increasing the collagen thickness from 0.73 mm to 2.01 mm may provide more storage for VEGF and induce greater cell viability and proliferation. Therefore, increasing collagen thickness to 4.28 mm should show even greater cell viability and proliferation, but this was not the case. The decrease in cell viability and proliferation for the 4.28 mm thickness suggests that there may be other factors (such as oxygen) responsible for endothelial cell growth as well. For example oxygen is an essential factor known to affect the growth mechanisms of endothelial cells.



Figure 4.11 Effect of collagen thickness on viability and proliferation for samples exposed to 5 ng/ml VEGF concentration. Data shown are mean values \pm sd; n=3

It is possible that as the collagen thickness increases, oxygen diffusion into the collagen is slower relative to its consumption by the cells. Literature has shown that diffusion of oxygen and nutrient delivery is inadequate in tissues greater than 2 mm. [133] This is probably why there is minimum cell viability in the 4.28 mm collagen thickness. Thus, endothelial cell viability and proliferation is greatest for the 2.01 mm than the 0.73 mm and 4.28 mm collagen thicknesses.



Figure 4.12 Effect of collagen thickness on viability and proliferation for samples exposed to 50 ng/ml VEGF concentration. Data shown are mean values \pm sd; n=3, *p<0.05 vs. 0.73 mm collagen thickness sample.

For the samples with 100 ng/ml VEGF, it was observed that the samples with the 2.01 mm collagen thickness had a significant increase in cell viability and proliferation, but the samples with the 4.28 mm collagen thickness was not significant, when compared to the samples with the 0.73 mm collagen thickness. The samples with the 2.01 mm

collagen thickness had on average fourteen times higher viability than the samples with the 4.28 mm collagen thickness, and twice as high as the samples with the 0.73 mm collagen thickness. These results show similar effects on cell viability and proliferation as shown previously.



Figure 4.13 Effect of collagen thickness on viability and proliferation for the samples exposed to 100 ng/ml VEGF concentration. Data shown are mean values \pm sd; n=3, *p<0.05 vs. 0.73 mm collagen thickness sample.

Another significant observation from the data was the decrease in cell viability and proliferation from Day 3 to 6 for each collagen thickness. For 50 ng/ml VEGF added to the samples, a decrease from 64% to 7%, 73% to 31%, 26% to 4% was observed for

the 0.73 mm, 2.01 mm and 4.28 mm collagen thicknesses, respectively. For 100 ng/ml VEGF added to the samples, a decrease from 86% to 13%, 76% to 4%, 16% to 10% was observed for the 0.73 mm, 2.01 mm and 4.28 mm collagen thicknesses, respectively. The decrease in cell viability and proliferation was due to the increase in cell growth in the control group on Day 6. However, changing the media on Day 6 after carrying out analyses increased VEGF concentration in 5 ng/ml, 50 ngml, and 100 ng/ml samples and as a result cells were observed to increase at a rapid rate on Days 9, 12 and 15.

4.2.5 Effect of collagen thickness on endothelial cell number of sprouts and migration

The effect of collagen thickness on number of sprouts was investigated (data not shown). For 5 ng/ml VEGF added to samples, it was observed that sprouts were stimulated in one sample, the 0.73 mm collagen thickness, as was seen in figure 4.9, but this increase was not significant compared to the control. Also for this group, the effect of collagen thickness on cell migration was observed to be negligible compared to the NGF control group (data not shown). For the samples with 50 ng/ml of VEGF, a significant increase in cell sprouting and migration was observed in the 0.73 mm collagen thickness samples compared to the control, as seen in Figure 4.9 and 4.10, respectively. There was no cell migration or sprouting observed in the 2.01 mm and 4.28 mm collagen thickness on sprouting and migration of 100 ng/ml VEGF to samples was also studied (data not shown). The results showed the same effect observed for samples with 50 ng/ml VEGF; only the 0.73 mm collagen thickness showed significant sprouting and migration.

For both 50 ng/ml VEGF and 100 ng/ml VEGF added to samples, increasing collagen thickness from 0.73 mm to 2.01 mm stimulated higher viability and proliferation, but not sprouting and migration of endothelial cells. Thus, the 2.01 mm collagen thickness had the greatest effect on viability and proliferation, the 0.73 mm collagen thickness had the greatest effect on cell sprouting and migration, and the 4.28 mm collagen thickness had no significant effect in either of the processes.

For the novel 3D angiogenesis system, it was concluded that 50 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml VEGF concentrations were more potent in stimulating viability, proliferation, sprouting and migration compared to the 5 ng/ml VEGF concentration. The higher VEGF concentrations of 50 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml exerted approximately the same effect on cell viability, proliferation, sprouting and migration. Taking cost into consideration, it was concluded that the 50 ng/ml VEGF concentration is the most suitable for this model. It was also concluded that 0.73 mm collagen thickness was the most suitable extracellular matrix environment for angiogenesis in this novel system because it showed significant increases in cell viability, proliferation, sprouting and migration compared to the 2.01 mm collagen thickness, which only showed increases in cell viability and proliferation. These two variables, 0.73 mm collagen thickness and 50 ng/ml VEGF concentration, sets the platform for testing the effect of thalidomide analogue, CLT-003 on angiogenesis within the tissue model.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The main goal of this research was to develop and characterize a novel 3D vascular tissue model that can be used to study the effect of an anti-angiogenesis drug (CLT-003) on human umbilical vein endothelial cells. The motivation for this research was to develop an angiogenesis tissue model that mimicked human physiological conditions to study an anti-angiogenic drug for treating diabetic retinopathy. The newly developed model has great potential for commercialization. It can be used to study the different mechanisms associated with angiogenesis and new therapeutic strategies for controlling the disease.

In vitro tissue models can serve as alternative testing models to animal or human models, especially in cases where either or both fail to provide the information needed. With animal models there is the possibility of uncertainty in results due to the differences in tissue response in some organs. Human models on the other hand cannot be used in studying anything that is considered hazardous to the human health. The use of *in vitro* models has overcome the limitations of both animal and human models in research. There are two types of *in vitro* models; two dimensional (2D) and three dimensional (3D). The 3D *in vitro* models are more advantageous than 2D tissue models because they provide

the third dimension essential for investigating the proliferation and migration steps of angiogenesis. Without the third dimension, 2D *in vitro* models provide limited insight into the complex interactions occurring within *in vivo* angiogenesis. The 3D *in vitro* models are also closer to the *in vivo* environment than 2D models because they take into consideration more steps of angiogenesis process including cell migration and the formation of intricate capillary-like structures. Other factors such as the effect of a gradient of diffusion of nutrients, oxygen, and stimulating factors on the angiogenesis process can also be studied in 3D models.

This project was divided into two parts. The first part was based on developing a 3D tissue model adapted from literature to test the effect of an anti-angiogenesis drug (CLT-003) on endothelial cell viability, proliferation, sprouting and migration. The second part was based on creating a novel 3D angiogenesis tissue model that was characterized by studying the effect of changes in collagen thickness and VEGF concentration on endothelial cell viability, proliferation, sprouting and migration. The main conclusions from this project include:

- For the 3D tissue model developed using a solid plate format, the normal model demonstrated a more significant effect of CLT-003 on endothelial cell viability, proliferation and sprouting than the growth factor model. Due to the absence of a growth factor cocktail, the normal model was able to demonstrate the normal mechanism of CLT-003 in reducing angiogenesis.
- A novel 3D vascular tissue model that mimics angiogenesis was successfully developed, and the effect of changes on the design variables of collagen thickness and VEGF concentration on angiogenesis was determined.

- 3) Increasing VEGF concentration was shown to demonstrate a mitogenic effect in stimulating endothelial cell growth. There was no significant effect observed when 5 ng/ml of VEGF concentration was added to the system. An increase in VEGF concentration from 5 ng/ml to 50 ng/ml showed a significant increase in viability, proliferation, sprouting and migration of endothelial cells. However, an increase in VEGF concentration from 50 ng/ml to 100 ng/ml did not have a significant effect, showing a limit to this mitogenic effect.
- 4) Varying collagen thickness had an effect on endothelial cell viability, sprouting and migration. Viability and proliferation increased in samples with increasing collagen thickness, from 0.73 mm to 2.01 mm. There was no significant increase in endothelial cell viability and proliferation in samples with 4.28 mm collagen thickness. Endothelial cell sprouting and migration were induced only in the tissue model with 0.73 mm collagen thickness.
- 5) For the novel system, the optimal conditions that could be used to test the effect of anti-angiogenesis drugs on angiogenesis in the tissue model are 0.73 mm collagen thickness and 50 ng/ml VEGF concentration. The 0.73 mm collagen thickness had significant effects on all the angiogenic events analyzed in this model. For the VEGF concentration, since the two concentrations have approximately the same effect on angiogenesis within the tissue model, it is more economical to select the 50 ng/ml than the 100 ng/ml.

A 3D model to mimic angiogenesis that occurs *in vivo* was initially used to study the effect of a novel anti-angiogenesis drug (CLT-003). The model design included human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) grown on bovine type 1 collagen matrix in a solid plate system. Two drug concentration were used, 32 μ M and 64 μ M, to study the potent effect of the anti-angiogenesis drug. The first model was called the Growth Factor Model because it used a growth factor cocktail to stimulate angiogenesis. It was observed that CLT-003 had a greater effect on viability, proliferation, number of sprouts and migration of endothelial at the higher CLT-003 concentration than the lower concentration. However, after the drug was added to the cells, the growth factor cocktail stimulated cell recovery, leading to a system that did not illustrate the normal mechanism of the drug. The drawbacks associated with this model led to the development of the second model, called the Normal Model. This model had the same design as the Growth Factor Model but there was no stimulant used to induce viability, proliferation and differentiation of endothelial cells. CLT-003 was shown to significantly affect endothelial cell viability, proliferation and sprouting, which made it more suitable for testing the drug than the Growth Factor Model. However, problems associated with this design included, a significant decrease in endothelial cell viability of the control samples for the duration of the experiment and there was no provision for drug delivery to mimic in vivo conditions. Therefore, a more physiological model was developed, and the effect of certain design parameters on angiogenesis tested.

The novel 3D vascular tissue model consisted of HUVECs cultured on bovine type 1 collagen in Transwell® membrane supports. Since this was a new model and was significantly different from previous models, the model had to be characterized before it could be used to test the anti-angiogenesis drug. The effect of two design variables, collagen thickness and VEGF concentration, were characterized. Collagen constitutes the major protein in the extracellular matrix. Three collagen thicknesses (0.73 mm, 2.01 mm and 4.28 mm) were chosen in order to represent different thicknesses of the extracellular matrix. VEGF plays a key role in pathological and physiological angiogenesis. Three VEGF concentrations (5 ng/ml, 50 ng/ml, 100 ng/ml) were chosen in order to study its mitogenic effect on endothelial cell viability, proliferation, sprouting and migration.

For studying the effect of collagen thickness in the tissue model, viability and proliferation of endothelial cells increased twice as much for the samples with 2.01 mm collagen thickness compared to the samples with 0.73 mm collagen thickness. This demonstrates that extracellular matrix plays an important role in regulating endothelial cell behavior. It employs a direct control over the activity of growth factors through binding and release of certain growth factors. Through this, the extracellular matrix serves as a sequestration and storage site for growth factors, concentrating their activity in the vicinity of cells and protecting them from degradation [134]. The 2.01 mm collagen thickness accommodated more VEGF in the collagen and induced greater stimulation of viability and proliferation than the 0.73 mm collagen thickness. Cell viability and proliferation decreased when increasing the collagen thickness further to 4.28 mm compared to the 0.73 mm collagen thickness. The decrease in cell viability and proliferation for the 4.28 mm collagen thickness can be due to other factors, i.e. the supply of oxygen, that also contribute to endothelial cell viability and proliferation [133]. Endothelial cell migration and the number of sprouts increased for samples with 0.73 mm collagen thickness compared to 2.01 mm and 4.28 mm collagen thicknesses. With reference to this 3D tissue model, the 0.73 mm thickness was chosen as the most suitable

collagen thickness, because it showed a significant effect on all four angiogenic steps: viability, proliferation sprouting, and migration.

For the effect of VEGF concentration on viability, proliferation, sprouting, and migration, a slight increase was observed when 5 ng/ml VEGF was added to the samples, compared to the NGF control sample. When the VEGF concentration was increased to 50 ng/ml, this showed a further increase in endothelial cell viability, proliferation, sprouting, and migration, compared to the NGF control sample. The 100 ng/ml VEGF concentration also showed a significant increase in the viability, proliferation, sprouting, and migration of endothelial cells, compared to the NGF control sample. The function of VEGF as an endothelial cell specific mitogen was to stimulate survival, proliferation and differentiation of endothelial cells. With reference to this 3D model, this effect was displayed in a dose-dependent manner. However, it was found that the 100 ng/ml VEGF concentration did not show a significant increase in viability and proliferation compared to the 50 ng/ml VEGF concentration. There may be a point between these two concentrations, which the receptors on endothelial cells become saturated with VEGF and there is no further mitogenic effect. With reference to this 3D vascular tissue model and taking cost into consideration, the 50 ng/ml VEGF concentration was chosen as the most suitable for endothelial cell stimulation within this model.

The current 3D tissue model was successful in demonstrating the basic angiogenic steps: viability, proliferation, sprouting, and migration. However, this model needs to be improved upon and further characterized so that it can be used as a testing system for the development of new drugs that affect angiogenesis, such as those for the treatment of diabetic retinopathy. Consequently, future work will be directed towards addressing the following:

- During angiogenesis, blood vessels supply both oxygen and nutrients that increase stimulation of endothelial cell survival. Oxygen is therefore important in angiogenesis [135-137] and may be a factor that affects endothelial cell growth when varying collagen thickness. Therefore, the effect of saturated oxygen concentration within the tissue model on angiogenesis needs to be characterized.
- 2) The ECM has a high affinity for many soluble factors, including VEGF. Review of literature shows that angiogenic molecules may be entrapped in the ECM, but they are directly recognized by integrins [138, 139]. Integrins are receptors that mediate between a cell and the surrounding tissue. The interactions of VEGF binding to the ECM through integrins needs to be studied in order to completely characterize the effect of VEGF transport and interaction within the model. This could also reveal why the cell viability and proliferation is greater in samples with 2.01 mm collagen thickness compared to samples with 0.73 mm collagen thickness.
- 3) Use the new model to test the anti-angiogenic properties of CLT-003 on the mechanisms associated with angiogenesis. This includes studying the effect of the route of delivery of the drug on angiogenesis in the tissue model. The already characterized response to CLT-003 can be used to validate the new model, so that it can be used for the design and testing of new therapeutics for treating diabetic retinopathy.

REFERENCES

- 1. Sheetz, M.J. and G.L. King, *Molecular understanding of hyperglycemia's adverse effects* for diabetic complications. JAMA, 2002. **288**(20): p. 2579-88.
- 2. Resnikoff, S., et al., *Global data on visual impairment in the year 2002.* Bull World Health Organ, 2004. **82**(11): p. 844-51.
- 3. Lee, E.T., et al., *Visual impairment and eye abnormalities in Oklahoma Indians.* Arch Ophthalmol, 2005. **123**(12): p. 1699-704.
- 4. Duh, E. and L.P. Aiello, *Vascular endothelial growth factor and diabetes: the agonist versus antagonist paradox.* Diabetes, 1999. **48**(10): p. 1899-906.
- Miller, J.W., A.P. Adamis, and L.P. Aiello, Vascular endothelial growth factor in ocular neovascularization and proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Diabetes Metab Rev, 1997. 13(1): p. 37-50.
- 6. Aiello, L.P., et al., *Vascular endothelial growth factor in ocular fluid of patients with diabetic retinopathy and other retinal disorders*. N Engl J Med, 1994. **331**(22): p. 1480-7.
- 7. Adamis, A.P., et al., *Increased vascular endothelial growth factor levels in the vitreous of eyes with proliferative diabetic retinopathy.* Am J Ophthalmol, 1994. **118**(4): p. 445-50.
- 8. Boulton, M., et al., *VEGF localisation in diabetic retinopathy.* Br J Ophthalmol, 1998. **82**(5): p. 561-8.
- 9. Burgos, R., et al., *Vitreous levels of vascular endothelial growth factor are not influenced by its serum concentrations in diabetic retinopathy.* Diabetologia, 1997. **40**(9): p. 1107-9.
- 10. Katsura, Y., et al., *Hepatocyte growth factor in vitreous fluid of patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy and other retinal disorders.* Diabetes Care, 1998. **21**(10): p. 1759-63.
- 11. Pe'er, J., et al., Upregulated expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Br J Ophthalmol, 1996. **80**(3): p. 241-5.
- 12. Patan, S., Vasculogenesis and Angiogenesis as Mechanisms of Vascular Network Formation, Growth and Remodeling. Journal of Neuro-Oncology, 2000. **50**(1): p. 1-15.
- 13. Maurer, B., et al., Angiogenese therapeutische Interventionsmöglichkeiten bei rheumatischen Erkrankungen. Zeitschrift für Rheumatologie, 2007. **66**(4): p. 304-310.
- 14. Conway, E.M., D. Collen, and P. Carmeliet, *Molecular mechanisms of blood vessel growth*. Cardiovasc Res, 2001. **49**(3): p. 507-521.
- 15. Santos, A.F., et al., *Angiogenesis: an improved in vitro biological system and automated image-based workflow to aid identification and characterization of angiogenesis and angiogenic modulators.* Assay Drug Dev Technol, 2008. **6**(5): p. 693-710.
- 16. Goodwin, A.M., *In vitro assays of angiogenesis for assessment of angiogenic and antiangiogenic agents*. Microvasc Res, 2007. **74**(2-3): p. 172-83.
- 17. Nehls, V. and D. Drenckhahn, A Novel, Microcarrier-Based in Vitro Assay for Rapid and Reliable Quantification of Three-Dimensional Cell Migration and Angiogenesis. Microvascular Research, 1995. **50**(3): p. 311-322.

- 18. Crabtree, B. and V. Subramanian, *Behavior of endothelial cells on Matrigel and development of a method for a rapid and reproducible in vitro angiogenesis assay.* In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology Animal, 2007. **43**(2): p. 87-94.
- 19. Aplin, A.C., et al., *Chapter 7 The Aortic Ring Model of Angiogenesis*, in *Methods in Enzymology*. 2008, Academic Press. p. 119-136.
- Davis, G.E. and D.R. Senger, Endothelial extracellular matrix: biosynthesis, remodeling, and functions during vascular morphogenesis and neovessel stabilization. Circ Res, 2005.
 97(11): p. 1093-107.
- 21. Ferrara, N., H.P. Gerber, and J. LeCouter, *The biology of VEGF and its receptors*. Nat Med, 2003. **9**(6): p. 669-76.
- 22. Bayless, K.J. and G.E. Davis, *Sphingosine-1-phosphate markedly induces matrix metalloproteinase and integrin-dependent human endothelial cell invasion and lumen formation in three-dimensional collagen and fibrin matrices.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2003. **312**(4): p. 903-13.
- 23. Davis, G.E., K.J. Bayless, and A. Mavila, *Molecular basis of endothelial cell morphogenesis in three-dimensional extracellular matrices.* Anat Rec, 2002. **268**(3): p. 252-75.
- 24. Rhodes, J.M. and M. Simons, *The extracellular matrix and blood vessel formation: not just a scaffold.* J Cell Mol Med, 2007. **11**(2): p. 176-205.
- 25. Nakatsu, M.N. and C.C.W. Hughes, *Chapter 4 An Optimized Three[hyphen (true graphic)]Dimensional In Vitro Model for the Analysis of Angiogenesis*, in *Methods in Enzymology*. 2008, Academic Press. p. 65-82.
- 26. D'Amato, R.J., et al., *Thalidomide is an inhibitor of angiogenesis*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1994. **91**(9): p. 4082-5.
- 27. Fong, D.S., et al., *Diabetic retinopathy*. Diabetes Care, 2003. **26**(1): p. 226-9.
- 28. Frank, R.N., *Diabetic retinopathy*. N Engl J Med, 2004. **350**(1): p. 48-58.
- 29. St. Lukes Cataract and Laser Institute, *How Does Diabetes Affect the Retina*. 2008. [cited; Available from

http://www.stlukeseye.com/Conditions/DiabeticRetinopathy.html]

- 30. Ciulla, T.A., A.G. Amador, and B. Zinman, *Diabetic retinopathy and diabetic macular edema: pathophysiology, screening, and novel therapies.* Diabetes Care, 2003. **26**(9): p. 2653-64.
- 31. National Eye Institute -National Institute of Health, *How Does Diabetic Retinopathy Cause Vision Loss*. 2009. [cited; Available from http://www.nei.nih.gov/health/diabetic/retinopathy.asp]
- 32. Morello, C.M., *Etiology and natural history of diabetic retinopathy: An overview*. Am J Health Syst Pharm, 2007. **64**(17_Supplement_12): p. S3-7.
- 33. Kempen, J.H., et al., *The prevalence of diabetic retinopathy among adults in the United States.* Arch Ophthalmol, 2004. **122**(4): p. 552-63.
- 34. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention., *Prevalence of visual impairment and selected eye diseases among persons aged* ≥ 50 years with and without diabetes United States, 2002. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep., 2004. **53**: p. 1069-71.
- 35. Penn, J.S., et al., *Vascular endothelial growth factor in eye disease*. Prog Retin Eye Res, 2008. **27**(4): p. 331-71.
- 36. Benjamin, L.E., Hemo, I., and Keshet, E., *A plasticity window for blood vessel remodelling is defined by pericyte coverage of the preformed endothelial network and is regulated by PDGF-B and VEGF.* Development (Cambridge, England), 1998. **125**: p. 1591-1598.
- 37. Foundation, T.A., *Angiogenesis: Cascade of Events*, T.A.P.H.D.N.B.V. Grow?, Editor. 2000.

- 38. Ferrara, N., *Role of vascular endothelial growth factor in regulation of physiological angiogenesis.* Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 2001. **280**(6): p. C1358-66.
- 39. Ferrara, N. and W.J. Henzel, *Pituitary follicular cells secrete a novel heparin-binding growth factor specific for vascular endothelial cells.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1989. **161**(2): p. 851-8.
- 40. Shibuya, M., Vascular endothelial growth factor-dependent and -independent regulation of angiogenesis. BMB Rep, 2008. **41**(4): p. 278-86.
- 41. Guerrin, M., et al., Vasculotropin/vascular endothelial growth factor is an autocrine growth factor for human retinal pigment epithelial cells cultured in vitro. J Cell Physiol, 1995. **164**(2): p. 385-94.
- 42. Oberg-Welsh, C., et al., *Effects of vascular endothelial growth factor on pancreatic duct cell replication and the insulin production of fetal islet-like cell clusters in vitro*. Mol Cell Endocrinol, 1997. **126**(2): p. 125-32.
- 43. Sondell, M., G. Lundborg, and M. Kanje, *Vascular endothelial growth factor has neurotrophic activity and stimulates axonal outgrowth, enhancing cell survival and Schwann cell proliferation in the peripheral nervous system.* J Neurosci, 1999. **19**(14): p. 5731-40.
- 44. Aiello, L.P., et al., *Hypoxic regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor in retinal cells*. Arch Ophthalmol, 1995. **113**(12): p. 1538-44.
- 45. Simorre-Pinatel, V., et al., *Vasculotropin-VEGF stimulates retinal capillary endothelial cells through an autocrine pathway.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 1994. **35**(9): p. 3393-400.
- 46. Tischer, E., et al., *The human gene for vascular endothelial growth factor. Multiple protein forms are encoded through alternative exon splicing.* J Biol Chem, 1991. **266**(18): p. 11947-54.
- 47. Houck, K.A., et al., *The vascular endothelial growth factor family: identification of a fourth molecular species and characterization of alternative splicing of RNA*. Mol Endocrinol, 1991. **5**(12): p. 1806-14.
- 48. Shima, D.T., et al., *The mouse gene for vascular endothelial growth factor. Genomic structure, definition of the transcriptional unit, and characterization of transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulatory sequences.* J Biol Chem, 1996. **271**(7): p. 3877-83.
- 49. Poltorak, Z., et al., *VEGF145, a secreted vascular endothelial growth factor isoform that binds to extracellular matrix.* J Biol Chem, 1997. **272**(11): p. 7151-8.
- 50. Jingjing, L., et al., *Human Muller cells express VEGF183, a novel spliced variant of vascular endothelial growth factor.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 1999. **40**(3): p. 752-9.
- 51. Lange, T., et al., *VEGF162, a new heparin-binding vascular endothelial growth factor splice form that is expressed in transformed human cells.* J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(19): p. 17164-9.
- 52. Bates, D.O., et al., *VEGF165b, an inhibitory splice variant of vascular endothelial growth factor, is down-regulated in renal cell carcinoma.* Cancer Res, 2002. **62**(14): p. 4123-31.
- 53. Houck, K.A., et al., *Dual regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor bioavailability by genetic and proteolytic mechanisms.* J Biol Chem, 1992. **267**(36): p. 26031-7.
- 54. Park, J.E., G.A. Keller, and N. Ferrara, *The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) isoforms: differential deposition into the subepithelial extracellular matrix and bioactivity of extracellular matrix-bound VEGF.* Mol Biol Cell, 1993. **4**(12): p. 1317-26.
- 55. Keyt, B.A., et al., *The carboxyl-terminal domain (111-165) of vascular endothelial growth factor is critical for its mitogenic potency.* J Biol Chem, 1996. **271**(13): p. 7788-95.
- 56. Vaisman, N., D. Gospodarowicz, and G. Neufeld, *Characterization of the receptors for vascular endothelial growth factor.* J Biol Chem, 1990. **265**(32): p. 19461-6.

- 57. Shen, H., et al., *Characterization of vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor receptors on mononuclear phagocytes.* Blood, 1993. **81**(10): p. 2767-73.
- 58. Hicklin, D.J. and L.M. Ellis, *Role of the vascular endothelial growth factor pathway in tumor growth and angiogenesis.* J Clin Oncol, 2005. **23**(5): p. 1011-27.
- 59. Hurwitz, H., et al., *Bevacizumab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer.* N Engl J Med, 2004. **350**(23): p. 2335-42.
- 60. Kim, K.J., et al., *The vascular endothelial growth factor proteins: identification of biologically relevant regions by neutralizing monoclonal antibodies.* Growth Factors, 1992. **7**(1): p. 53-64.
- 61. Lee, J.H., et al., *A therapeutic aptamer inhibits angiogenesis by specifically targeting the heparin binding domain of VEGF165.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005. **102**(52): p. 18902-7.
- 62. Folkman, J., *Role of angiogenesis in tumor growth and metastasis*. Semin Oncol, 2002. **29**(6 Suppl 16): p. 15-8.
- 63. Brennen, W.N., et al., *Thalidomide and analogues: current proposed mechanisms and therapeutic usage*. Clin Prostate Cancer, 2004. **3**(1): p. 54-61.
- 64. Sleijfer, S., W.H. Kruit, and G. Stoter, *Thalidomide in solid tumours: the resurrection of an old drug*. Eur J Cancer, 2004. **40**(16): p. 2377-82.
- 65. Komorowski, J., et al., *Effect of thalidomide affecting VEGF secretion, cell migration, adhesion and capillary tube formation of human endothelial EA.hy 926 cells.* Life Sciences, 2006. **78**(22): p. 2558-2563.
- 66. Moreira, A.L., et al., *Thalidomide and a thalidomide analogue inhibit endothelial cell proliferation in vitro*. J Neurooncol, 1999. **43**(2): p. 109-14.
- 67. Zygote Media Group and e frontier., *Open Source 3D Human Models*. 2005. [cited; Available from

http://www.virtualworldlets.net/Archive/IndividualNews.php?News=1094]

- 68. Madrigal, A., *Say goodbye to your 2D petri dishes*. 2007. [cited; Available from <u>http://www.wired.com/wiredscience/2007/09/petri-dishes-go/</u>]
- 69. Antal, C., et al., *Tissue collection for systematic phenotyping in the mouse*. Curr Protoc Mol Biol, 2007. **Chapter 29**: p. Unit 29A 4.
- 70. Katz, J., *The regulation of human experimentation in the United States--a personal odyssey.* IRB, 1987. **9**(1): p. 1-6.
- 71. Mazzoleni, G., D. Di Lorenzo, and N. Steimberg, *Modelling tissues in 3D: the next future of pharmaco-toxicology and food research?* Genes Nutr, 2009. **4**(1): p. 13-22.
- 72. Green, J.A. and K.M. Yamada, *Three-dimensional microenvironments modulate fibroblast signaling responses*. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 2007. **59**(13): p. 1293-8.
- 73. Schmeichel, K.L. and M.J. Bissell, *Modeling tissue-specific signaling and organ function in three dimensions*. J Cell Sci, 2003. **116**(Pt 12): p. 2377-88.
- 74. Madri, J.A., B.M. Pratt, and A.M. Tucker, *Phenotypic modulation of endothelial cells by transforming growth factor-beta depends upon the composition and organization of the extracellular matrix*. J Cell Biol, 1988. **106**(4): p. 1375-84.
- 75. Yang, S.-T. and R. Ng, *A new dimension to biomaterials*. Materials Today, 2007. **10**(3): p. 64-64.
- 76. Yang, S.T., J. Luo, and C. Chen, *A fibrous-bed bioreactor for continuous production of monoclonal antibody by hybridoma*. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol, 2004. **87**: p. 61-96.
- 77. Elsdale, T. and J. Bard, *Collagen substrata for studies on cell behavior*. J Cell Biol, 1972. **54**(3): p. 626-37.
- 78. Friedl, P. and E.B. Brocker, *The biology of cell locomotion within three-dimensional extracellular matrix*. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2000. **57**(1): p. 41-64.

- 79. Roskelley, C.D. and M.J. Bissell, *Dynamic reciprocity revisited: a continuous, bidirectional flow of information between cells and the extracellular matrix regulates mammary epithelial cell function.* Biochem Cell Biol, 1995. **73**(7-8): p. 391-7.
- 80. Pepper, M.S., *Manipulating angiogenesis. From basic science to the bedside.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 1997. **17**(4): p. 605-19.
- 81. Ucuzian, A. and H. Greisler, *In Vitro Models of Angiogenesis*. World Journal of Surgery, 2007. **31**(4): p. 654-663.
- Folkman, J. and C. Haudenschild, Angiogenesis in vitro. Nature, 1980. 288(5791): p. 5516.
- Bishop, E.T., et al., *An in vitro model of angiogenesis: basic features*. Angiogenesis, 1999.
 3(4): p. 335-44.
- 84. Jain, R.K., et al., *Quantitative angiogenesis assays: progress and problems.* Nat Med, 1997. **3**(11): p. 1203-8.
- 85. Nicosia, R.F. and A. Ottinetti, *Growth of microvessels in serum-free matrix culture of rat aorta. A quantitative assay of angiogenesis in vitro.* Lab Invest, 1990. **63**(1): p. 115-22.
- 86. Zhu, W.-H. and R. Nicosia, *The thin prep rat aortic ring assay: A modified method for the characterization of angiogenesis in whole mounts.* Angiogenesis, 2002. **5**(1): p. 81-86.
- 87. Passaniti, A., et al., A simple, quantitative method for assessing angiogenesis and antiangiogenic agents using reconstituted basement membrane, heparin, and fibroblast growth factor. Lab Invest, 1992. **67**(4): p. 519-28.
- Davis, G.E., S.M. Black, and K.J. Bayless, CAPILLARY MORPHOGENESIS DURING HUMAN ENDOTHELIAL CELL INVASION OF THREE-DIMENSIONAL COLLAGEN MATRICES. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology - Animal, 2009. 36(8): p. 513-519.
- 89. Hay, E.D., *The mesenchymal cell, its role in the embryo, and the remarkable signaling mechanisms that create it.* Dev Dyn, 2005. **233**(3): p. 706-20.
- 90. Kalluri, R., *Basement membranes: structure, assembly and role in tumour angiogenesis.* Nat Rev Cancer, 2003. **3**(6): p. 422-33.
- 91. Ashkenas, J., J. Muschler, and M.J. Bissell, *The extracellular matrix in epithelial biology: shared molecules and common themes in distant phyla*. Dev Biol, 1996. **180**(2): p. 433-44.
- 92. Boudreau, N.J., *Organized living: from cell surfaces to basement membranes.* Sci STKE, 2003. **2003**(196): p. pe34.
- 93. Prockop, D.J. and K.I. Kivirikko, *Collagens: molecular biology, diseases, and potentials for therapy*. Annu Rev Biochem, 1995. **64**: p. 403-34.
- 94. Vernon, R., et al., Organized type I collagen influences endothelial patterns during "spontaneous angiogenesis in vitro": Planar cultures as models of vascular development. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology - Animal, 1995. **31**(2): p. 120-131.
- 95. Nicosia, R.F. and S. Villaschi, *Autoregulation of angiogenesis by cells of the vessel wall.* Int Rev Cytol, 1999. **185**: p. 1-43.
- 96. Vernon, R.B. and E.H. Sage, *A Novel, Quantitative Model for Study of Endothelial Cell Migration and Sprout Formation within Three-Dimensional Collagen Matrices.* Microvascular Research, 1999. **57**(2): p. 118-133.
- 97. Lawley, T.J. and Y. Kubota, *Induction of morphologic differentiation of endothelial cells in culture.* J Invest Dermatol, 1989. **93**(2 Suppl): p. 59S-61S.
- 98. Donovan, D., et al., *Comparison of three in vitro human 'angiogenesis' assays with capillaries formed in vivo*. Angiogenesis, 2001. **4**(2): p. 113-121.
- 99. Ribatti, D. and A. Vacca, *Models for studying angiogenesis in vivo*. Int J Biol Markers, 1999. **14**(4): p. 207-13.

- 100. Nguyen, M., Y. Shing, and J. Folkman, *Quantitation of angiogenesis and antiangiogenesis in the chick embryo chorioallantoic membrane.* Microvasc Res, 1994. **47**(1): p. 31-40.
- Zijlstra, A., et al., Proangiogenic role of neutrophil-like inflammatory heterophils during neovascularization induced by growth factors and human tumor cells. Blood, 2006.
 107(1): p. 317-27.
- 102. Staton, C.A., M.W.R. Reed, and N.J. Brown, A critical analysis of current <i>in vitro</i>and <i>in vivo</i> angiogenesis assays. International Journal of Experimental Pathology, 2009. 90(3): p. 195-221.
- 103. Institute national d'optique INO, *Chick embryo (chorioallantoic membrane)*. 2008. [cited; Available from <u>http://www.ino.ca/en-ca/achievements/description/project-p/photodynamic-therapy.html]</u>
- 104. Norrby, K., *In vivo models of angiogenesis*. J Cell Mol Med, 2006. **10**(3): p. 588-612.
- Ribatti, D., et al., Angiogenesis induced by B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. Lack of correlation with tumor malignancy and immunologic phenotype. Anticancer Res, 1990.
 10(2A): p. 401-6.
- 106. Ausprunk, D.H., D.R. Knighton, and J. Folkman, *Vascularization of normal and neoplastic tissues grafted to the chick chorioallantois. Role of host and preexisting graft blood vessels.* Am J Pathol, 1975. **79**(3): p. 597-618.
- 107. Knighton, D., et al., Avascular and vascular phases of tumour growth in the chick embryo. Br J Cancer, 1977. **35**(3): p. 347-56.
- 108. Langer, R. and J. Folkman, *Polymers for the sustained release of proteins and other macromolecules*. Nature, 1976. **263**(5580): p. 797-800.
- 109. Ribatti, D., et al., *Endogenous basic fibroblast growth factor is implicated in the vascularization of the chick embryo chorioallantoic membrane.* Dev Biol, 1995. **170**(1): p. 39-49.
- 110. Iurlaro, M., et al., *Antiangiogenesis by cyclosporine*. Exp Hematol, 1998. **26**(13): p. 1215-22.
- 111. Henkind, P., *Ocular neovascularization. The Krill memorial lecture.* Am J Ophthalmol, 1978. **85**(3): p. 287-301.
- 112. Auerbach, R., et al., *Angiogenesis Assays: A Critical Overview*. Clin Chem, 2003. **49**(1): p. 32-40.
- 113. Ziche, M., G. Alessandri, and P.M. Gullino, *Gangliosides promote the angiogenic response*. Lab Invest, 1989. **61**(6): p. 629-34.
- 114. Ziche, M., et al., *Placenta growth factor-1 is chemotactic, mitogenic, and angiogenic.* Lab Invest, 1997. **76**(4): p. 517-31.
- 115. Culton, M., et al., *The effect of oxygen on corneal neovascularization*. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 1990. **31**(7): p. 1277-81.
- 116. Conrad, T.J., et al., *In vivo measurement of corneal angiogenesis with video data acquisition and computerized image analysis.* Lab Invest, 1994. **70**(3): p. 426-34.
- 117. Proia, A.D., et al., *Quantitation of corneal neovascularization using computerized image analysis.* Lab Invest, 1988. **58**(4): p. 473-9.
- 118. Academic dictionaries and encyclopedias., *Corneal limbus*. 2007. [cited; Available from http://en.academic.ru/dic.nsf/enwiki/6333295]
- 119. Dellian, M., et al., Quantitation and physiological characterization of angiogenic vessels in mice: effect of basic fibroblast growth factor, vascular endothelial growth factor/vascular permeability factor, and host microenvironment. Am J Pathol, 1996. **149**(1): p. 59-71.

- 120. Plunkett, M.L. and J.A. Hailey, *An in vivo quantitative angiogenesis model using tumor cells entrapped in alginate.* Lab Invest, 1990. **62**(4): p. 510-7.
- 121. Auerbach, R., et al., *Angiogenesis Assays: Problems and Pitfalls.* Cancer and Metastasis Reviews, 2000. **19**(1): p. 167-172.
- 122. Staton, C.A., et al., *Current methods for assaying angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo.* International Journal of Experimental Pathology, 2004. **85**(5): p. 233-248.
- 123. Huang, S.M., J. Li, and P.M. Harari, *Molecular inhibition of angiogenesis and metastatic potential in human squamous cell carcinomas after epidermal growth factor receptor blockade*. Mol Cancer Ther, 2002. **1**(7): p. 507-14.
- 124. Eccles, S.A., et al., *Cell migration/invasion assays and their application in cancer drug discovery*, in *Biotechnology Annual Review*. 2005, Elsevier. p. 391-421.
- 125. L., K., Types of Chemotactic Responses. 2006.
- 126. Boyden, S., *The chemotactic effect of mixtures of antibody and antigen on polymorphonuclear leucocytes.* J Exp Med, 1962. **115**: p. 453-66.
- 127. Falk, W., R.H. Goodwin Jr, and E.J. Leonard, *A 48-well micro chemotaxis assembly for rapid and accurate measurement of leukocyte migration.* Journal of Immunological Methods, 1980. **33**(3): p. 239-247.
- 128. Mayo Clinic., *Inside the human eye*. [cited; Available from <u>http://www.mayoclinic.com/health/medical/IM02853</u>]
- 129. Promega Corporation., *Cell Titer-Blue Cell Viability Assay*. Technical Bulletin 2009. [cited; Available from <u>http://www.promega.com/tbs/tb317/tb317.pdf</u>]
- 130. Griffith, L.G. and M.A. Swartz, *Capturing complex 3D tissue physiology in vitro*. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2006. **7**(3): p. 211-24.
- 131. Davis, G.E. and C.W. Camarillo, *An* [alpha]2[beta]1 Integrin-Dependent Pinocytic Mechanism Involving Intracellular Vacuole Formation and Coalescence Regulates Capillary Lumen and Tube Formation in Three-Dimensional Collagen Matrix. Experimental Cell Research, 1996. **224**(1): p. 39-51.
- 132. Castellon, R., et al., *Effects of angiogenic growth factor combinations on retinal endothelial cells.* Exp Eye Res, 2002. **74**(4): p. 523-35.
- 133. Griffith, C.K. and S.C. George, *The effect of hypoxia on in vitro prevascularization of a thick soft tissue*. Tissue Eng Part A, 2009. **15**(9): p. 2423-34.
- 134. Flaumenhaft, R. and D.B. Rifkin, *Extracellular matrix regulation of growth factor and protease activity*. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 1991. **3**(5): p. 817-23.
- 135. Fraisl, P., et al., *Regulation of angiogenesis by oxygen and metabolism.* Dev Cell, 2009. **16**(2): p. 167-79.
- 136. Malda, J., T.J. Klein, and Z. Upton, *The roles of hypoxia in the in vitro engineering of tissues*. Tissue Eng, 2007. **13**(9): p. 2153-62.
- 137. Vaupel, P., D.K. Kelleher, and M. Hockel, *Oxygen status of malignant tumors: pathogenesis of hypoxia and significance for tumor therapy.* Semin Oncol, 2001. **28**(2 Suppl 8): p. 29-35.
- Vlahakis, N.E., et al., Integrin alpha9beta1 directly binds to vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-A and contributes to VEGF-A-induced angiogenesis. J Biol Chem, 2007.
 282(20): p. 15187-96.
- 139. Vlahakis, N.E., et al., The lymphangiogenic vascular endothelial growth factors VEGF-C and -D are ligands for the integrin alpha9beta1. J Biol Chem, 2005. 280(6): p. 4544-52.

VITA

SUBUOLA SOFOLAHAN

Candidate for the Degree of

Master of Science

Thesis: THE DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF A NOVEL 3D ANGIOGENESIS TISSUE MODEL FOR TESTING AN ANTI-ANGIOGENESIS DRUG

Major Field: Chemical Engineering

Biographical:

Personal Data:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Chemical Engineering at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in May, 2010.

Experience:

- 1) *Graduate Research Assistant*, School of Chemical Engineering Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma - August 2007- December 2009
- 2) *Graduate Research Assistant*, School of Chemical Engineering Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma - January 2009 - August 2009
- 3) *Executive Trainee*, Marketing and Operations Department Intercontinental Bank Plc, Lagos - February 2006–July 2007
- 4) *Undergraduate Research*, Department of Chemical Engineering University of Lagos, Akoka, Lagos August 2004-July 2005
- 5) *Laboratory Assistant Intern*, Quality Control Laboratory Oando Oil Plc, Lagos - January 2004-June 2004

Professional Memberships: The Honor Society of Phi Kappa Phi, OSU National Organization for the Professional Advancement of Black Chemist and Chemical Engineers Omega Chi Epsilon, Chemical Engineering Honors Society, OSU Name: Subuola Sofolahan

Institution: Oklahoma State University

Location: Stillwater, Oklahoma

Title of Study: THE DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION OF A NOVEL 3D ANGIOGENESIS TISSUE MODEL FOR TESTING AN ANTI-ANGIOGENESIS DRUG

Pages in Study: 85

Candidate for the Degree of Master of Science

Major Field: Chemical Engineering

Scope and Method of Study:

Diabetic Retinopathy (DR) is a microvascular complication associated with diabetes mellitus and is the leading cause of blindness in American adults. DR occurs as a result of chronic hyperglycemia, which causes vascular damage, increased vascular permeability, vascular leakage, and edema. When the blood glucose level is elevated in the body, it can lead to a production of growth factors. Among the many growth factors present, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) has been recognized as the primary mediator of vascular alteration in DR. Currently there is no non-invasive and effective drug treatment to prevent or arrest the progression of DR. Studies have shown that agents that block VEGF activity can prevent diabetes-induced retinal damage, thus the development of new drugs to block retinal vascular leakage via targeting VEGF or its receptor has become a potential new therapy for DR. Recently a novel anti-angiogenesis drug, a thalidomide analog, has been developed for the treatment of diabetic retinopathy. The objective of this research was to develop a three dimensional (3D) in vitro model to study the effect of an anti-angiogenesis drug on endothelial cell functions associated with angiogenesis. Initially, a model consisting of endothelial cells grown on bovine type 1 collagen gel formed within a 96 solid well plate was tested. Due to drawbacks associated with the model, a novel 3D model was created using Transwell® permeable supports. The new model was characterized by varying collagen thickness at 0.73 mm, 2.01 mm and 4.28 mm and VEGF concentration at 5 ng/ml, 50 ng/ml, and 100 ng/ml.

Findings and Conclusions:

The higher VEGF concentrations of 50 ng/ml and 100 ng/ml showed greater stimulation of cell viability, proliferation, number of sprouts and migration than the 5 ng/ml concentration. However there was no significant increase in the endothelial cell functions for the 100 ng/ml of VEGF compared to the 50 ng/ml of VEGF. The 2.01 mm collagen thickness showed the greatest increase in cell viability and proliferation compared to the 0.73 mm and 4.28 mm thicknesses. The 0.73 mm collagen thickness showed the greatest increase in sprouting and migration compared to the 2.01 mm and 4.28 mm thicknesses. It can be concluded that the 0.73 mm collagen thickness and the 50 ng/ml VEGF concentration result in the optimal conditions suitable for testing the anti-angiogenesis drug in the new model. The 0.73 mm thickness was chosen as the most suitable collagen thickness, because it showed a significant effect on all four angiogenic steps: viability, proliferation sprouting, and migration.

ADVISER'S APPROVAL: Dr. Heather Gappa-Fahlenkamp